
Cumbria Police and Crime Panel

Monday, 21 January 2019 at 10.30 am 

VENUE: Conference Room A, Cumbria House, 
Botchergate, Carlisle. CA1 1RD 

AGENDA

PLEASE NOTE THERE WILL BE A BRIEFING FOR THE PANEL AT 
9.30 AM

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.
 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest.
 

3  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded 
from the meeting during consideration of any item on the 
Agenda.
 

4  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

To receive any items of public participation.

(Questions and petitions must be received in writing by 
Lynn Harker, Senior Democratic Services Officer at least seven 
working days before the date of the Panel meeting). 

5  MINUTES

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meetings of the 
Panel held on 15 October 2018 (copy enclosed).
(Pages 5 - 8)



6  CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL COMPLAINTS SUB-
COMMITTEE

To receive the minutes of the Cumbria Police and Crime Panel 
Complaints Sub-Committee held on 28 November 2018 (copy 
enclosed).
(Pages 9 - 12)

7  REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING - QUARTER 2

a  Constabulary Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 
To consider a report from Cumbria Constabulary (copy enclosed). 
(Pages 13 - 16)

b  Commissioner Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 
To receive a report from the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (copy enclosed).
(Pages 17 - 18)

8  POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER PRECEPT PROPOSALS

a  Cumbria Constabulary: 2018 HMICFRS Value for Money 
Profiles Analysis 
Report attached. 
(Pages 19 - 24)

b  Revenue Budget and Medium Term Financial Forecast 
(enclosed). 
(Pages 25 - 44)

c  Draft Capital Programme 2019/20 and Beyond 
(enclosed). 
(Pages 45 - 58)

d  Precept Consultation Responses 
To receive a verbal update. 

e  Precept Proposal and Medium Term Budget 2019/20 to 
2022/23 
(enclosed).
(Pages 59 - 74)



9  DRAFT PRECEPT PROPOSALS (CUMBRIA COUNTY 
COUNCIL)

To consider a report by the Assistant Director Finance (Cumbria 
County Council) (copy enclosed).
(Pages 75 - 78)

10  COMPLIMENTS AND COMPLAINTS

To consider a report from the Monitoring Officer (Cumbria County 
Council) (copy enclosed).
(Pages 79 - 82)

11  PANEL UPDATE REPORT

To consider the Panel Briefing from the Senior Manager – Policy 
and Scrutiny (Cumbria County Council) (copy enclosed/Appendix 
2 to follow).
(Pages 83 - 92)

12  DATE OF NEXT MEETING

The next meeting of the Panel will be held on Monday 
25 March 2019 at 10.30 am in the Council Chamber, County 
Offices, Kendal, LA9 4RQ
 

INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - if you wish to 
inspect Minutes or Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have 
any other general queries about the meeting, please contact:

Lynn Harker, Senior Democratic Services Officer, Cumbria House, 
117 Botchergate, Carlisle, Cumbria CA1 1RD

Telephone Nos: 01228 226364 / 07825340229



This page is intentionally left blank



CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

Minutes of a Meeting of the Cumbria Police and Crime Panel held on 
Monday, 15 October 2018 at 2.30 pm at Large Conference Room, Barrow 
Police Station, Andrews Way, Barrow-in-Furness, LA14 2UE.

PRESENT:

Mr W McEwan (Cumbria County Council) (Chair)

Mrs J Cooke, Independent Co-opted Member
Miss HJ Fearon, Cumbria County Council (Vice-Chair)
Mr KR Hamilton, Barrow Borough Council
Mr P Kendall, Allerdale Borough Council
Mr J Mallinson, Cumbria County Council
Mr G Sunderland, Copeland Borough Council
Miss L Vance, Independent Co-opted Member

Also in Attendance:-

Mr H Cox - Policy and Scrutiny Officer
Mr T Gale - Senior Policy and Scrutiny Project Officer
Mrs L Harker - Senior Democratic Services Officer
Mr R Marshall - Joint Chief Finance Officer, Office of the Police 

and Crime Commissioner
Mr P McCall - Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC)
Mrs G Shearer - Head of Communications and Business Services 

- Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner
Mr B Spencer - Solicitor
Ms V Stafford - Chief Executive, Office of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner

PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN 
THE PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND 

PRESS

28 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Mr R Bingham, Mr J Lynch and 
Mr P McSweeney.

5

Agenda Item 5



29 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest on this occasion.

30 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED, that that in accordance with Paragraph 1 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 the press 
and public be excluded during consideration of agenda 
item 5 (Appointment of Chief Executive) while the Panel 
discuss and agree a recommendation to the Police and 
Crime Commissioner regarding his proposed appointment 
of a Chief Executive.

31 PROPOSAL FOR THE PERMANENT REPLACEMENT OF THE 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Panel received a report from the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner regarding a proposal for the permanent replacement of the 
Chief Executive role within the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner.  

Members noted that a temporary arrangement to cover the Chief 
Executive role within the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
had been in place since the retirement of the Chief Executive in 
September 2017.  The report gave notice of the Commissioner’s proposal 
to make the current appointments permanent and provided the statutory 
information required and requested by the Police and Crime Panel.

The Panel were informed that the Commissioner’s Chief Executive and 
Monitoring Officer retired at the end of September 2017.  It was 
explained that since that time, the Commissioner’s Head of Partnerships 
and Commissioning and Head of Communications and Business Services 
had fulfilled the role on an interim basis, in addition to their existing 
responsibilities, on a six month rotation. It was noted that when not 
undertaking the Chief Executive role they had acted as Deputy Chief 
Executive.  It was the Commissioner’s opinion that the arrangement had 
operated successfully over the last year, provided essential resilience in a 
small office, had flattened the hierarchy making it more effective and 
delivered savings to the public purse.  The Commissioner, therefore, 
intended to make the existing arrangements permanent.

Members then asked the proposed candidates, Ms V Stafford, Head of 
Partnerships and Commissioning and Ms G Shearer, Head of 
Communications and Business Services a number of questions.  They 
both highlighted that over the past 12 months they had strengthened 

6



their leadership skills through enhanced working at a both regional and 
national level.  It was explained that their ability to bring partners 
together to co-commission and joint commission services had contributed 
to an increase in better value for money across the county.  

It was acknowledged that they both had the ability to respond to 
pressures through their close working relationships with the Executive 
Team and Commissioner which gave them the ability to discuss and solve 
issues together.

In reflecting on their temporary joint role over the last year they both felt 
it had led to an enhancement of the skills, experience and resilience 
within the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, highlighting the 
advantages of their existing portfolio responsibilities.

A discussion took place regarding change management and the most 
significant change or challenge that would need to be addressed within 
the next 12 months.  They both felt that the Police Funding Formula 
would be challenging.

In conclusion both candidates acknowledged it was necessary to maintain 
appropriate independence in their role.  They highlighted that they were 
both in a politically restricted post and both took their role and 
responsibility as Monitoring Officer very seriously

The Commissioner explained to members that in his opinion the previous 
12 months had been successful, highlighting that both officers had 
demonstrated that they had the capability to undertake the role, which 
they had done effectively and without detriment to the working of the 
office. 

PART 2 - ITEM CONSIDERED IN THE 
PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND 

PRESS

32 APPOINTMENT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Panel moved into a closed session following discussions with 
Ms Shearer and Ms Stafford.

Members discussed the evidence which they had heard and 

RESOLVED, that Ms Shearer and Ms Stafford be recommended for the 
joint appointment as the Chief Executive of the Office of 
the Police and Crime Commissioner.

7



33 DATE OF NEXT MEETING

It was noted that the next meeting of the Panel would be held on Monday 
21 January 2019 at 10.30 am in Conference Room A/B, Cumbria House, 
Botchergate, Carlisle, CA1 1RD.

The meeting ended at 2.35 pm

8



CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL COMPLAINTS SUB-
COMMITTEE

Minutes of a Meeting of the Cumbria Police and Crime Panel Complaints 
Sub-Committee held on Wednesday, 28 November 2018 at 10.00 am at 
Committee Room 4 - County Offices, Kendal, LA9 4RQ

PRESENT:

Miss HJ Fearon (Cumbria County Council) (Chairman)

Mrs J Cooke, Independent Co-opted Member
Mr W McEwan, Cumbria County Council

Also in Attendance:-

Mr H Cox - Policy and Scrutiny Officer
Mr T Gale - Senior Policy and Scrutiny Project Officer
Mrs L Harker - Senior Democratic Services Officer
Mr B Spencer - Group Solicitor/Deputy Monitoring Officer

PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN 
THE PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND 

PRESS

1 ELECTION OF CHAIR

RESOLVED, that Miss H Fearon be appointed Chairman of the 
Sub-Committee for this meeting only.

Miss Fearon thereupon took the Chair.

2 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

There were no apologies for absence on this occasion.

3 DECLARATION OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest on this occasion.

9

Agenda Item 6



4 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED, that the public and press be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of agenda items 5(a) and (b) – 
Consideration of Non-Criminal Complaints (minutes 5(a) 
and (b) refer) by virtue of paragraph 1 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as they 
relate to information relating to an individual.

PART 2 - ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE 
ABSENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

5 CONSIDERATION OF NON-CRIMINAL COMPLAINTS

a Complaint A

Members considered a report by the Monitoring Officer (Cumbria County 
Council) which gave details of a complaint in accordance with the Panel’s 
Complaints Procedure.  The report outlined the background to the 
complaint, the steps taken to date, and a recommendation as to the next 
steps. 

The Panel were informed that the substantive matter behind the 
complaint was the Complainant’s concerns regarding “footballs coming 
over a school fence on to a very busy public road”.  

The Deputy Monitoring Officer explained that the Complainant had 
written to the Police and Crime Commissioner on several occasions 
regarding the matter and the Commissioner had engaged with the 
Complainant each time a request had been made.  It was explained that 
the Commissioner had set out in clear terms why he had reached the 
conclusions that led to the complaint.  It was highlighted that whilst the 
Complainant remained dissatisfied, it was the opinion of officers that such 
dissatisfaction could not reasonably be attributed to the quality of service 
or conduct of the Commissioner and it was felt the matter had been dealt 
with in an appropriate manner.

Following discussion it was

RESOLVED, that no further action be taken on the matter and that all 
parties involved be informed of the decision.

10



b Complaint B

The Sub-Committee considered a report by the Monitoring Officer 
(Cumbria County Council) which detailed a complaint in accordance with 
the Panel’s Complaints Procedure.  The report outlined the background to 
the complaint, the steps taken to date, and a recommendation as to next 
steps.  

It was noted that in paragraph 3.3 of the report the reference to 
‘4 August 2018’ should read ‘4 August 2017’.

The Deputy Monitoring Officer informed the Sub-Committee that the 
substantive matter behind the complaint was the Complainant’s concerns 
about what appeared to be a long running dispute regarding vehicles 
passing over a footpath that ran adjacent or close to the Complainant’s 
property.  It was explained that the footpath in question also formed a 
vehicular right of way to nearby properties.  

Members noted that the Complainant had written to the Cumbria Police 
and Crime Commissioner to raise his concerns about police inaction in 
relation to this matter and the Commissioner had provided a written 
response stating it was a civil matter.

The Sub-Committee questioned whether initially the complaint had been 
considered through Cumbria Constabulary’s formal complaints procedure.  
Members were informed there was no evidence to suggest that procedure 
had been suggested, therefore, the Complainant was in his rights to 
complain direct to the Commissioner.

Members were informed that the Complainant had also raised a 
complaint with the Independent Office for Police Conduct (IOPC) 
regarding the Cumbria Police and Crime Panel not dealing with the 
matter correctly.  It was emphasised that this was incorrect, explaining 
that the Complainant had been unable to engage with the process 
correctly.  It was highlighted that officers had offered to speak to the 
Complainant to assist but this offer had been rejected with a preference 
for written communication.

In conclusion members were informed that the Commissioner had 
engaged with the Complainant each time a request had been made.  It 
was explained that the Commissioner had set out a clear approach for a 
local resolution but the Complainant had not engaged with the matter.

11



Members gave careful consideration to the matter, taking into account 
evidence regarding the option of a final letter to the Complainant, and

RESOLVED, that no further action be taken in this matter and that all 
parties involved be informed of the decision.

The meeting ended at 10.25 am

12



Constabulary Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 
Forecast as at 30 September 2018 to Police and Crime Panel 21 January 2019 
 

 

 

Constabulary Summary at September 2018 

The current forecast of net expenditure amounts to £117.952m compared to a revised budget of £117.203m.  The 

variance amounts to a forecast overspend of £0.749m (0.64%) and is made up of a forecast overspend on expenditure 

budgets of £0.971m (0.79%) and over recovery on income of £0.222m (3.83%).  The forecast overspend has increased 

by £0.347m compared to the forecast overspend reported as at the end of June 2018 of £0.402m.  The budget has 

been adjusted to reflect the agreed drawdown of the budget support reserve and the injury pension reserve.   

 

The Constabulary is continuing to look for ways in which the overspend can be managed during the remainder of the 

financial year.   In the event that there is an overspend at the year end, it is proposed that the underspend on the 

capital budget in relation to business analytics (as reported at quarter 1) is transferred to the revenue support budget 

and is in turn used to fund the remaining deficit. 

 

 

  

Description Revised Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Change

Budget Expenditure

/ (Income)

(Under)/

Overspend

(Under)/

Overspend

(Under)/

Overspend

from      

JUN-18

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 @ JUN-18 to SEP-18

£'000s £'000s £'000s % £'000s £'000s

Constabulary Funding

Police Officers 83,115 84,113 998 1.20% 609 389

Police Community Support Officers 3,131 2,789 (342) -10.92% (292) (50)

Police Staff 20,830 20,962 132 0.63% (180) 312

Other Employee Budgets 1,585 1,545 (40) -2.52% 12 (52)

Transport Related Expenditure 2,177 2,271 94 4.32% 10 84

Supplies & Services 10,012 10,118 106 1.06% 135 (29)

Third Party Related Expenses 2,153 2,176 23 1.07% (7) 30

Total Constabulary Funding 123,003 123,974 971 0.79% 287 684

Income (5,800) (6,022) (222) 3.83% 115 (337)

Total Constabulary Funding Net of Income 117,203 117,952 749 0.64% 402 347

13

Agenda Item 7a



Constabulary Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 
Forecast as at 30 September 2018 to Police and Crime Panel 21 January 2019 
 

 

Current Forecast 

The forecast constabulary overspend is largely as a result of a forecast overspend on police officer pay and allowances 

of £0.998m.  The forecast overspend can be broken down into 3 main sub sets: 

 Workforce Plan Changes - £0.555m relates partly to changes to the proposed HR Workforce Plan (WFP) to 

facilitate the earlier recruitment of the additional 25 police officers as pledged by the Commissioner in relation 

to the increase in council tax precept.  In addition, decisions taken to operate approximately 20 officers over 

establishment for police officers for the remainder of the financial year to counterbalance the current 

reduction in actual PCSO numbers and to safeguard against potential difficulty in recruiting as a result of the 

forthcoming changes in relation to the Police Education Qualification Framework (PEQF) effective from 

January 2020 has contributed to the additional expenditure.   

 Ill Health Pensions - £369k of the forecast overspend relates to a forecast increase in the number of individuals 

required to be retired under the pension regulations increasing from 3 to 8.  The constabulary meets the 

capital ill health charge of two times annual salary (approx. £80k per retirement).  The budget provision 

includes funding for three ill health retirements per year.   

 Police Officer Overtime - £75k of the forecast overspend relates to pressure being experienced on overtime 

budgets in Territorial Policing command. 

The chart below illustrates the current HR WFP.  The green line represents the HR WFP used for budget setting 

purposes, the red line represents the current HR WFP at September 2018.  Where the red line is above the green line 

(which it is for the majority of the year), an overspend will result.  

 

14



Constabulary Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 
Forecast as at 30 September 2018 to Police and Crime Panel 21 January 2019 
 

 

The overspend on police officers is being offset by reductions in relation to PCSO pay (£342k).  The PCSO underspend 

arises as a result of an increase in the number of PCSO leavers (mainly to join regular PCs).  The WFP now sees the 

average PCSO numbers for the year being 84.56 FTE, which is 10.44 FTE below the establishment of 95 FTE.   

 

The police staff budget is forecast to overspend by £132k.  The overspend on police staff has arisen as a result of  a 

change in respect of the projections with regard to the overall level of vacant posts and when vacant posts are 

expected to be filled.   

 

The other employee expenses budget is forecast to underspend by £40k.  This is largely as a result of the assumptions 

made with regards to the apprenticeship levy.  The current assumption is that £151k of the levy paid in 2017/18 will 

now not be used and as a result will be lost and should therefore be accounted for in the current year.  The assumptions 

in relation to the £306k anticipated levy for 2018/19 is that this will be used in future years and as such will be accrued 

into 2019/20.  The net impact on 2018/19 is a budget saving of £155k.  This saving is being offset by increases in 

recruitment costs mainly as a result of the accelerated recruitment of police officers. 

 

The transport related budget is forecasting to overspend by £94k, the primary reason for this is in relation to a forecast 

increase in fuel costs.  At budget setting time an above inflation increase of 5% was applied to the fuel budget.  The 

actual increase seen at the pump between November 2017 and July 2018 was around 8%.  In addition to fuel increases, 

the repair and maintenance budgets and hire car budgets are reporting pressure which is being offset by reductions 

in car allowance payments. 

 

The supplies and services budget is showing a forecast overspend of £106k, this is largely as a result of a forecast 

overspend in respect of Microsoft licencing fees and additional uniform in respect of increased recruitment and extra 

Firearms / Public Safety courses.   

 

Income is forecast to be £222k higher than budget.  This is across a number of headings but is largely due to increased 

reimbursement for specialist policing services.  This additional income is somewhat offset by a shortfall in Firearms 

Licencing income, which follows a five year cycle (£98k). 

15



Constabulary Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 
Forecast as at 30 September 2018 to Police and Crime Panel 21 January 2019 
 

 

Change in Forecast between June and September 

As outlined above the forecast overspend position has increased from the figure of £0.402m reported as at the end of 

June to the figure of £0.749m reported at the end of September.  The main reasons for the increase in forecast 

overspend of £0.347m can be summarised as follows: 

 Police Officer Pay reduction of £93k which is the net impact of changes to workforce planning assumptions 

during the quarter. 

 Ill Health Pensions increase of £369k, at the end of June it was assumed that this heading would be on budget, 

during the second quarter forecasted numbers leaving on ill health grounds during the year were revised. 

 Police Overtime increase of £117k related to pressure being experienced on overtime budgets in Territorial 

Policing Command (£101k) and Crime command (£13k). 

 PCSO Pay decrease of £50k due to changes in the profile of leavers and new recruits. 

 Police Staff Pay increase of £312k in respect of changes to the assumptions of when vacant posts will be filled. 

 Other Employee expenses reduction of £52k relating to changes in forecasts for training and apprenticeship 

levy charges. 

 Transport Related expenses increase £84k.  The primary reason for this is in relation to a forecast increase in 

fuel and repair and maintenance costs. 

 Supplies & Services reduction £29k as a result of changes across various lines including ICT costs. 

 Third Party Payments increase of £30k in respect of a number of smaller changes to collaborations and 

subscriptions. 

 Income additional over recovery of £337k in respect of a change in assumptions with regard to potential 

income from the provision of specialist policing services, mutual aid and other sources of income. 

16



PCC Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 
Forecast as at 30 September 2018 to Police and Crime Panel 21 January 2019 
 

 

PCC Budget Summary at September 2018 

The current forecast of net expenditure amounts to £99.418m compared to a revised budget of £98.627m.  The 

variance amounts to a forecast overspend of £791k (0.80%) and is made up of a forecast overspend of £749k (0.64%) 

in respect of Constabulary budget and a forecast overspend of £42k (0.23%) on budgets managed by the 

Commissioner. 

 

OPCC Budgets 

The forecast underspend on the Commissioner’s own budget arises principally as a result of underspends on staff in 

the office of the PCC (£33k), office supplies & services (£4k) and internal and external audit costs (£8k).   

In respect of other budgets managed by the Commissioner the forecast overspend arises as a result of increased 

premises costs (£104k), of which the main variances are repair and maintenance (£23k), utilities (£81k), employee 

insurance premiums (£18k) and Grants (£9k) which are being offset by forecast, additional interest income from 

investments (£45k). 

Constabulary Budgets 

The forecast constabulary overspend is largely as a result of a forecast overspend on police officer pay and allowances 

of £998k.  This overspend has arisen as a result of changes to the proposed HR Workforce Plan (WFP) to facilitate 

earlier recruitment of the additional 25 police officers as pledged by the Commissioner in relation to the increase in 

council tax precept.  In addition, decisions taken to operate approximately 20 police officers over establishment for 

the remainder of the financial year to counterbalance the reduction in actual PCSO numbers (who have left to join as 

regular PCs) and to safeguard against potential difficulty in recruiting as a result of the forthcoming changes in relation 

to the Police Education Qualification Framework (PEQF) which come into effect from January 2020.   

Description Revised Forecast Provisional Provisional Forecast Change in

Budget Expenditure 

/ (Income

(Under)/

Overspend

(Under)/

Overspend

(Under)/

Overspend

Forecast 

JUN-18 to

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 @ JUN-18 SEP-18

£'000s £'000s £'000s % £'000s £'000s

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 723 678 (45) -6.22% (43) (2)

Other PCC Budgets (13,103) (13,016) 87 -0.66% (8) 95

Movements To / (From) Reserves (6,196) (6,196) 0 0.00% 0 0

Total OPCC Budgets (18,576) (18,534) 42 -0.23% (51) 93

Funding Provided to the Constabulary 117,203 117,952 749 0.64% 402 347

Net Expenditure 98,627 99,418 791 0.80% 351 440

External Funding (98,627) (98,627) 0 0.00% 0 0

Total 0 791 791 351 440

17

Agenda Item 7b



PCC Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 
Forecast as at 30 September 2018 to Police and Crime Panel 21 January 2019 
 

 

In addition to the above, police staff budgets are forecasting to overspend by £132k and supplies & services by £106k.  

The above mentioned overspends are being partially offset by reductions in relation to PCSO (£342k) and a forecast 

additional of income £222k.   

The Constabulary budget monitoring report elsewhere on this agenda provides a more detailed explanation of the 

variances. 

 

Police Property Act 

At 30 September 2018 the balance on the Police Property Act fund was £41k.  In September 2018, awards totalling 

£12k were made from the fund.  Full details of the awards made are available on the PCC website at https://cumbria-

pcc.gov.uk/what-we-do/funding/successful-applicantsgrant-agreements/ 

18

https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/what-we-do/funding/successful-applicantsgrant-agreements/
https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/what-we-do/funding/successful-applicantsgrant-agreements/


Police and Crime Panel Report on Constabulary Value For Money Profiles 

Cumbria Constabulary: 2018 HMICFRS Value for Money Profiles’ Analysis 

 
The high level analysis in the table on pages 3 to 5 relates to the 2018 Value for Money Profiles 

which were published by Her Majesty’s Inspector of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services 

(HMICFRS) in October 2018.  The profiles compare the forces within Cumbria’s Most Similar Group 

(MSG) and these are Lincolnshire, Norfolk and North Wales.  The aim of the profiles is to compare 

performance and the costs of achieving that performance.    

 

It is important to recognise that the VFM Profiles in themselves have limitations and that they 

require more detailed investigation before they can be safely used as basis for decision making.  In 

particular the profiles focus on costs per head of population, which tends to show Cumbria as 

relatively expensive across all services due to its low resident population – it should be noted that 

the impact of increased population due to tourism is not taken into account.   In addition, caution 

needs to be exercised in ensuring that costs and categorisations give a true comparison on a like for 

like basis, as forces can - and do - budget in different ways and there may be an element of 

subjectivity with regard to allocating costs.    

 

The high level analysis only covers areas of service where Cumbria has been identified as an outlier 

compared with its peer group - that is, either: 

 providing better value for money  or, 

 performing less well and services are, or appear to be, more expensive based on the criteria 

used in the profiles. 

 

An outlier is defined as being in the top or bottom 10% and where the effect of the difference is 

greater than £1 per head of population.   

The 2018 profiles show that the areas identified as being significantly above the all forces or MSG 

average cost are broadly the same this year as they have been in previous years and this has 

consistently been the case across the period since value for money profiles were first introduced. 

 

General points about the VfM profiles 

 

 Cumbria is a demographic outlier when comparing it to its MSG and this will continue to be the 

case, regardless of any VfM comparators.  Cumbria’s geography, topography and socio-

economic environment are unique and there are fixed costs associated with this regardless of 

other comparisons. 

 Population is the main determinant used in the profiles for assessing value for money – that is, 

cost per head.  This significantly disadvantages Cumbria, which has the lowest population of 42 

forces (excluding City of London), is the fourth largest covering 2,613 square miles, is sparsely 

19

Agenda Item 8a



Police and Crime Panel Report on Constabulary Value For Money Profiles 

populated, is classified as 98% rural and is geographically isolated.  The additional cost of 

delivering services in this physical geography is not taken into account.   

 The sparsity of the population, the rural nature of the county and the isolated geographic 

location of the county in England, results in higher costs to deliver police services compared to 

other forces and, limits opportunities for cost effective collaborations with other forces for 

specialist operational services or private companies to provide services.  As a result, Cumbria 

Constabulary requires more people and more equipment to deliver a police service to a small 

population distributed over a large area. 

 

All of the above result in additional fixed costs irrespective of how and by whom police services are 

provided and regardless of policy or strategy decisions made by senior management. 

 
The table overleaf shows where the profiles show Cumbria as an outlier, provides an explanation or 

context and identifies any actions being taken by the Constabulary as a result.

20



Police and Crime Panel Report on Constabulary Value For Money Profiles 

 

VfM Category 

Cumbria Data 
Value of 

difference  & 
other info 

Context and/or Explanation Actions being taken 

Non staff costs  
Capital Financing 
 
  

£0.4m 
6.7% of workforce 
costs 
 

This is to finance the constabulary’s current capital expenditure programme which 
includes significant investment in ICT. There are also differences in the way in which 
forces treat revenue financing of capital expenditure. 
Capital expenditure is reviewed annually as part of planning and budget setting.    

None 

Workforce costs – officer cost per FTE -£2.2m 
4/4 MSG    
9/40 All 

Our officers cost less than our MSG and most other forces because we have a higher 
percentage of officers with less than 5 years’ service 

None 

Local policing  
 

Neighbourhood 
policing  
£15.3m 
1/4      2/40 

Not really an outlier as all  response/patrol officers are all declared as neighbourhood 
officers in the 17/18 POA return and, this category now includes local investigation 
(i.e. CID).  Our CID is multifunctional and includes a large element of safeguarding, 
which enables us to prioritise investigations to threat risk and harm – these are our 
Crime and Safeguarding Teams (CAST) based in local areas.   There are no  major 
differences in how we spend our money within local policing across officers, PCSOs 
and staff.   However, we do have  more police officers per head of population within 
Neighbourhood Policing – for reasons already outlined in the introduction and 
General Points sections of this report.   
 

None 

Command team & 
support 
overheads 
-£0.7m 
4/4 
40/40 

Dealing with the public Central 
Communications 
(CCR) 
£1.1m 
1/4      4/40 

This reflects the changes made in Command and Control where the Constabulary 
made a conscious decision to operate with officers rather than police staff.  This has 
reduced demand on frontline by 40%- delivering best use of resources by using officer 
knowledge and expertise at the start of the   process, resolving the public’s issues as 
early as possible and providing the best advice and information- with an aim to 
increase this further.   The Constabulary would not be able to accommodate the 
demand if we put all these officers back on shift, as their impact would be diluted. The 
benefits from the new Command and Control system will make this function much 
more efficient and impact on the cost base.  
 
 
 
 

None – IT replacement 
programme underway 

21



Police and Crime Panel Report on Constabulary Value For Money Profiles 

VfM Category 

Cumbria Data 
Value of 

difference  & 
other info 

Context and/or Explanation Actions being taken 

Criminal justice arrangements 
 
 

Total Custody 
£0 
1/4  
3/40 

Cumbria has the highest cost of police doctors/nurses and surgeons in the country. 
Custody function is  already identified to be subject of a change review, which 
includes workforce modernisation to reduce the cost base. 
 
Note the CJ costs per 100 charges are £26k, the same as our MSG and cheaper than 
all force average. 
 

A review of custody and 
criminal justice functions is 
scheduled for 2019/20. 
 

Custody 
£0.2m 
1/4  
4/40 

Police doctors, 
nurses & surgeons 
£0.6m 
1/4       
1/40 

Roads policing Traffic Units 
£1.8m 
1/4        
2/40 

Cumbria has been an outlier in this category since VfM profiles were first created in 
2011.  Although these costs are the 2nd highest in the country please note that the 
comparison is not like for like.  Cumbria Roads Policing includes the Armed Response 
Vehicle, because officers are multi-skilled and perform a dual role.  Other forces have 
these as separate units and firearms are categorised as Operational Support. 
 
For Cumbria, Operational Support Unit Firearms is the cheapest in the country and  
advanced public order is also a multi skilled function and includes our secondary 
firearms response.  
 
When taking all of this into account, overall spend per head of population balances 
out and we are no longer an outlier, although we are still a high cost force.  The force 
has the 2nd lowest non staff costs in the country for operational support. 
 

None 

Operational support Firearms Unit 
£-1.1m 
4/4       
40/40 

Advanced public 
order 
£0.7m 
1/4       
4/40 

Public protection -£1.4m 
4/4       
38/40 

This function covers all vulnerable persons (child and adult protection; 4/4 and 
35/40), witness protection, joint teams (2/4 and 14/40) and command team and 
support.   
The profiles are not flexible enough to account for our CAST structure, which skews 
the comparison (as described in local policing section).  We have done some 

None – already accounted 
for in our resource 
allocation process 

22



Police and Crime Panel Report on Constabulary Value For Money Profiles 

VfM Category 

Cumbria Data 
Value of 

difference  & 
other info 

Context and/or Explanation Actions being taken 

significant demand work and the number of resources available for public protection 
will increase next year as a result of our evidence based reallocation decisions. 

Investigations  
(excludes local investigation and prisoner 
processing) 

-£0.9m 
4/4       
39/40 

VfM profiles show that key reason is  Major Investigations Unit and the fact that this is 
civilianised, unlike other forces.   We spend more on serious and organised crime   
compared to our MSG and less on economic crime, specialist investigation units, 
command team and cybercrime.  Reallocation decisions for cybercrime will impact 
positively on this category.  Unlike other forces, we do not have a lot of specialised 
units, which in Cumbria would be too small to be effective, but amalgamate many 
officers into one unit with specialists for specific skills requirements such as financial 
investigators.  

None – already accounted 
for in our resource 
allocation process 

Support functions All 
£4.7m 
1/4 
1/40 

Cumbria has been an outlier in this category since VfM profiles were first created in 
2011.  It should be remembered that the All and MSG averages are not comparing like 
for like.  For example, Lincolnshire has outsourced its business support and 
operational support functions. 
The key areas that make Cumbria more expensive per head of population are 
identified below  

 Business Support 
Futures programme 
with targeted savings of 
£600,000 per annum 
over the next 4 years 

 Review of digital 
policing strategy and 
associated ICT to 
provide a new costed 5 
year plan 

  Review of digital 
storage processes to 
provide  solutions to 
reduce escalating   costs 

 Rebasing of fleet and 
estate strategies  to 
reduce overheads    

 Review of training 
across the force 

 Business intelligence 
Project to reduce 

ICT 
£2.2m 
1/4       
1/40 

Cumbria has been an outlier in this category since VfM profiles were first created in 
2011.  Some of our ICT fixed costs will be higher than other forces, as already 
described in the first section of this report.   
The Constabulary has now focused on benefits delivery to drive out efficiencies and 
has a digital policing strategy to deliver increased effectiveness and productivity.    

Fleet services 
£0.4m 
1/4       
2/40 

Cumbria has been an outlier in this category since VfM profiles were first created in 
2011.  The cost of fleet provision and associated transport costs are high in Cumbria 

due to the size, geography and topography of the county. In addition, the LSE with 

HMIC has undertaken some work about factors that provide challenges for policing.  
This identifies that Cumbria’s average travel times are 70% more than the national 
average. 

Training 
£0.7m 
1/4       
3/40 

This is a new outlier.  The Constabulary has invested in its own function and the 
collaboration with Lancashire to ensure that staff and officers have the skills to deliver 
the best service for the public.  In addition,  the force has increased its rate of police 
officer recruitment which has required  additional trainer resource  

23



Police and Crime Panel Report on Constabulary Value For Money Profiles 

VfM Category 

Cumbria Data 
Value of 

difference  & 
other info 

Context and/or Explanation Actions being taken 

Support functions continued Performance review 
£0.4m 
 
1/4    
3/40 

Increased performance review costs reflect the investment in the Business 
Improvement Unit to drive up quality and reduce reworking costs, the  change team  
to deliver savings required and in IMS staff to meet demand and deliver the Business 
Intelligence Project.   

performance cost base 
in the next 4 years , plus 
other savings 

 
 
 
 
 

 

No outliers were identified in the workforce or demand sections of the VfM Profiles. 

24



 

 
 
 
 

 

Cumbria Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner 
 

Title: Revenue Budget and Medium Term 
Financial Forecast (MTFF) 
 
Police and Crime Panel: 21 January 2019 

Police and Crime Panel: 14 January 2019 Budget Briefing Session 

 

 
Report of the Joint Chief Finance Officer  

Originating Officers:    Michelle Bellis, Deputy Chief Finance Officer and  

Mark Carter, Financial Services Manager. 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide a detailed analysis of the figures contained within the 

revenue budget for 2019/20 and the MTFF to 2022/23. 

 

1.2. The report provides more detailed analysis of the budgets for 2019/20 together with comparative 

information from the 2018/19 approved budget. 

 

1.3. The report also provides additional information in respect of the more unusual aspects of the 

budget and explanations where the budgets have changed significantly between the years. 

 

1.4. The overall revenue budget and MTFF position is summarised in Appendix A.   Further analysis is 

provided in supporting appendices (B and C) which are cross referenced from the main appendix. 

25

Agenda Item 8b



 

Appendix A 
 

Revenue Budget & Medium Term Financial Forecast to 2022/23 

 

 
Note 1 –More information on reserves will be provided to the January meeting of the Police and Crime 

Panel as part of the precept proposal report (see agenda item 08e).   

 

Note 2 – The provisional settlement for formula funding was announced on 13 December 2018.  The 

funding allocated for 2019/20 included a 2.1% increase on 2018/19 levels.  During 2019/20 a 

comprehensive spending review will be carried out and this will inform grant levels for future years.  At 

this stage, it has been assumed that the figure included in the draft settlement for 2019/20 will continue 

to be maintained on a flat cash basis for the remainder of the MTFF.   

 

Note 3 – The council tax figures assume that the council tax base will increase by 0.75% per annum.  The 

figures also assume council tax precept rises of £23.94 (10.29%) per band D property for 2019/20 and 

then £11.97 per annum (around 4.5%) for the final 3 years of the MTFF, all of which are subject to 

consultation.    

  

Description Supporting 

Schedule

2018/19

£'s

2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

2021/22

£'S

2022/23

£'s

Commissioner's Budgets Appendix B (9,904,791) (16,441,035) (19,714,248) (19,707,573) (14,116,155)

Constabulary Funding Appendix C 116,902,124 124,481,433 129,215,101 133,752,191 131,128,111

Movement to /(from) Reserves Note 1 (8,370,619) (4,159,195) (179,651) (1,602,588) (1,672,984)

Net Expenditure 98,626,714 103,881,203 109,321,202 112,442,030 115,338,972

Funding

Formula Grants/Funding Note 2 (58,710,055) (59,942,966) (59,942,966) (59,942,966) (59,942,966)

Council Tax Note 3 (39,916,659) (43,938,237) (46,321,258) (48,737,564) (51,187,520)

Net Deficit / Savings Requirement 0 (0) 3,056,978 3,761,501 4,208,487

26



 

Appendix B 

Commissioner’s Budgets 

The Commissioner’s budgets include commissioned services and a number of other technical statutory 

accounting adjustments.  The budget can be analysed as follows: 

 

 
 
 
B1. Commissioner’s Office 

The budget for the Commissioner’s office includes funding for the Commissioner plus his office 

comprising of 12.6 FTEs.  The pay budget has been increased by pay inflation at 3% throughout the MTFF 

and the non-pay budgets in general have been subject to an increase of 2%. 

 

B2. Commissioned Services 

The commissioned services budget provides for the Commissioner’s statutory responsibilities across the 

areas of victim support, community safety and enhancing criminal justice.  It is funded by a combination 

of ministry of justice grants, successful Home Office innovation funding bids and base budget.  Following 

the devolution of responsibility for local provision of victim’s services from 2015/16, this budget now 

funds a full programme of commissioned services targeted at crime prevention and victim support.  This 

includes victims referral, independent domestic and sexual violence advisory and counselling services 

(including The Bridgeway), Turning the Spot Light Restorative Justice, perpetrator programmes e.g. 

Restorative Solutions and education programs including Chelsea’s Choice and Young Cumbria.   

  
 
 

 
  

Description Paragraph 2018/19

£'s

2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

2021/22

£'S

2022/23

£'s

Commissioner's Office B1 722,694 749,008 769,858 791,309 813,376

Commissioned Services B2 2,245,476 2,244,773 2,244,773 2,244,773 2,244,773

Premises Related Costs B3 4,045,455 4,310,486 4,269,848 4,371,550 4,476,201

Insurances B4 551,946 600,939 612,089 633,089 649,989

LGPS Past Service Cost B5 492,600 503,400 514,500 525,900 537,500

Provision for Insurance liability B6 105,500 105,500 105,500 105,500 105,500

Statutory Accounting Adjustments B7 352,796 360,721 360,721 360,721 360,721

Capital Financing B8 11,189,393 5,737,281 4,459,101 5,883,152 6,043,729

Grants & Contributions B9 (29,535,651) (30,888,143) (32,910,638) (34,508,567) (29,232,944)

Interest/investment Income B10 (75,000) (165,000) (140,000) (115,000) (115,000)

Total (9,904,791) (16,441,035) (19,714,248) (19,707,573) (14,116,155)

27



N O T  R E S T R I C T I V E L Y  M A R K E D  

 

B3. Premises Related Costs 
The Commissioner is statutorily responsible for and owns the police estate.  The Chief Constable manages 

the estate on behalf of the Commissioner.  The estate is comprised of police headquarters at Carleton 

Hall, larger police stations which include custody facilities, smaller police stations and a small number of 

residual police houses.  The premises budget can be analysed as follows: 

 

 
 

 
Notes: 

This table provides a split of the premises budget by subjective heading.  A brief summary of items 

included within each heading is provided below. 

 

A. Property Repair & Maintenance includes both planned and reactive maintenance and grounds 

maintenance.  Property repair and maintenance costs are based on a schedule of planned 

maintenance and are showing an above inflation increase, £100,000 of this increase is as a result of 

the inclusion of a scheme to improve security across the estate.   

B. Utilities includes gas, electricity, water and heating oil charges.  Costs are showing increased costs as 

a result of increases in contract prices which are currently being experienced.   

C. Rent and Rates includes business rates (NNDR), property leases, room hire charges and PFI occupancy 

charges for the PFI building at Workington.   

D. Cleaning and Domestic Supplies includes building cleaning, window cleaning, refuse collection and 

clinical waste collection services.  This increase in this category is largely as a result contract increases 

as a result of the impact of the living wage.   

E. Other Premises Costs include fire and security equipment maintenance, legal and valuation fees. 

 

 

 

 

  

Description Paragraph 2018/19

£'s

2019/20

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Property Repairs & Maintenance A 732,655 853,490 120,835 16.49%

Utilities B 947,734 1,098,683 150,949 15.93%

Rent & Rates C 1,733,070 1,684,193 (48,877) -2.82%

Cleaning & Domestic Supplies D 547,517 587,952 40,435 7.39%

Other Premises Costs E 84,479 86,168 1,689 2.00%

Total 4,045,455 4,310,486 265,031 6.55%

The Commissioner’s estate had an accounting value of £51m at 31/03/2018 

28



 

An analysis of premises budgets by category of premises is provided below: 

 

 

 

The chart below illustrates this graphically: 

 

 

 

The following page includes a split of the premises budget on a site by site basis.  The analysis includes 

the part year effect of the new Eden Deployment Centre building which is due to become operational in 

September/October 2019.  

Estates Costs 2019/20 by Category of 

Property

Property 

Total 

£000s

Property 

Total 

%

Police HQ, Carleton Hall, Penrith 1,485 34.4%

Larger Police Stations with Custody and 

Deployment Centres
2,252 52.2%

Smaller Police Stations 196 4.6%

Leased/Rented Premises 131 3.0%

Police Houses 1 0.0%

Misc/Other 245 5.7%

Total 4,310 100.0%

Police HQ, 

Carleton Hall, 
Penrith, £1,485k, 

34%

Larger Police 

Stations with 
Custody and 
Deployment 

Centres, £2,252k, 
52%

Smaller Police 

Stations, £196k, 
5%

Leased/Rented 

Premises, £131k, 
3%

Police Houses, 

£1k, 0%

Misc/Other, 

£245k, 6%

Police HQ at 
Carleton Hall, 
the 4 Custody 
suites and 6 

main 
deployment 

centres 
account for 
87% of the 
premises 
budget. 

This table provides a split of the premises 
budget by category of premises.  From the 

table it can be seen that Police HQ and the 6 
main deployment centres account for 87% 

of the total budget.  The table overleaf 
provides a split of each category over 

individual premises. 

Police House – The PCC/Constabulary has 
one remaining police house in Kendal which 
is due to become surplus to requirements in 

2021. 

29



 

Premises Related Expenditure Budget 2019/20 on Site by Site Basis  
 

  

Property Property 

Repairs & 

Maintenance 

Utilities Rent & 

Rates

Cleaning & 

Domestic 

Supplies

Other 

Premises 

Costs

Grand 

Total

Percentage 

of Total

£ £ £ £ £ £ %

Police HQ, Carleton Hall Penrith

Headquarters : Carleton Hall Penrith 374,689 534,888 246,379 229,038 10,455 1,395,449 32%

Eden Deployment Centre (from Oct'19) 7,500 35,000 27,500 19,500 0 89,500 2%

382,189 569,888 273,879 248,538 10,455 1,484,949 34%

Barrow : Phoenix Way 51,654 93,213 172,808 72,985 803 391,463 9%

Carlisle : Durranhill 83,816 155,817 301,305 81,727 3,493 626,158 15%

Kendal : Busher Walk 93,726 85,757 102,358 56,198 2,847 340,886 8%

Penrith : Hunter Lane 34,513 39,997 32,602 23,716 270 131,098 3%

Whitehaven : Scotch Street 73,598 42,946 61,349 23,442 1,143 202,478 5%

Workington : Hall Brow 9,853 0 547,715 2,076 0 559,644 13%

347,160 417,730 1,218,137 260,144 8,556 2,251,727 52%

Smaller Police Stations

Ambleside 783 2,910 3,721 1,499 104 9,017 0%

Appleby 6,398 5,964 6,854 6,921 156 26,293 1%

Brampton 20,196 13,286 7,405 9,326 156 50,369 1%

Cockermouth (Allerdale Rural) 5,750 17,324 15,912 7,819 1,092 47,897 1%

Kirkby Stephen 1,736 1,434 1,371 2,073 159 6,773 0%

Lake Road Hostel, Windermere 1,607 1,424 1,835 1,019 624 6,509 0%

Longtown 1,984 5,907 6,487 4,082 1,532 19,992 0%

Windermere 3,767 8,021 6,879 9,768 1,118 29,553 1%

42,221 56,270 50,464 42,507 4,941 196,403 5%

Leased or Rented Premises

Alston : The Topps 1,745 3,180 3,274 1,690 0 9,889 0%

Askham-in-Furness : Community Portacabin 0 218 304 0 0 522 0%

Carlisle : Shadygrove Road 1,649 6,526 11,157 4,250 270 23,852 1%

Dalton-in-Furness : Drill Hall 0 0 3,274 1,132 0 4,406 0%

Keswick Town Hall 0 0 3,931 792 0 4,723 0%

Millom : Network Centre 0 0 7,829 792 0 8,621 0%

Sedbergh : CIO 72 Main Street 268 0 2,569 0 0 2,837 0%

Specialist Services Accommodation 512 8,570 43,693 1,583 1,688 56,046 1%

Ulverston Business Centre Offices 0 0 11,868 0 0 11,868 0%

Wigton : Innovia Suite 0 0 8,567 0 0 8,567 0%

4,174 18,494 96,466 10,239 1,958 131,331 3%

Police Houses

16 Hillswood Avenue, Kendal (to 2021) 595 0 0 0 0 595 0%

595 0 0 0 0 595 0%

Misc/Other

Carlisle : Northern Traffic Unit 9,289 27,172 17,503 6,437 960 61,361 1%

North West ROCU (Merseyside) 0 4,256 18,897 0 0 23,153 1%

North West UC Online (Merseyside) 0 1,323 8,847 0 0 10,170 0%

Estate & Facilities - Forcewide 67,862 3,550 0 20,087 59,298 150,797 3%

77,151 36,301 45,247 26,524 60,258 245,481 6%

Total 853,490 1,098,683 1,684,193 587,952 86,168 4,310,486 100%

Larger Police Stations with Custody and Deployment Centres

30



 

 

B4. Insurances 

During 2016/17 the Commissioner and Constabulary retendered and awarded long term agreements in 

respect of insurance which run until 31 October 2019 (with an option to extend for a further 2 years to 

31 October 2021).  On an annual basis insurance policies are renewed based on current data.  The 

increase in premiums between 2018/19 and 2019/20 reflects the addition of a policy for cyber and data 

risk which was previously uninsured.  Cyber and Data insurance seeks to cover the PCC/Constabulary for 

costs associated with recovering from a data or cyber attack. 

 

B5. Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Past Service Cost 

For the LGPS (police staff and PCSOs) the PCC/Constabulary are required to pay past service contributions 

with the aim to reduce the pensions’ deficit over the next 16 years.  The amount paid is based on a 

calculation by the scheme actuary following an actuarial valuation of pension liabilities which is carried 

out on a three yearly basis.  The most recent valuation was undertaken on 31 March 2016 and has 

provided an increase in the contribution rates (from 12.7% to 15.4%) and a reduced deficit reduction 

payment, both of which took effect from 1 April 2017.  The next actuarial valuation will take place on 31 

March 2019 with any new rates becoming effective from 1 April 2020. 

 

B6. Provision for Insurance Liability 

The Commissioner makes an annual contribution to a provision for insurance liabilities.  The provision 

covers costs associated with claims below the insurance policy excess levels and is based on a biennial 

actuarial valuation of those liabilities.  The next review is due to take place in March 2020.    

 

B7. Statutory Accounting Adjustments 

Statutory accounting adjustments relate to the mechanism by which capital grants are received through 

the revenue budget and are then transferred to capital grants unapplied until these are utilised to fund 

the capital programme.  The capital grant received from the home office in 2018/19 amounted to £364k, 

the provisional funding settlement for 2019/20 sees this figure increased to £372k (an increase of 2.2%). 

 

  

31



 

B8. Capital Financing 

Capital financing includes the following items: 

 

 

 

Notes: 

A. The Commissioner makes annual contributions from the revenue budget to the funding of the capital 

programme.  The annual contribution is currently set at 1.7m.  Additional contributions from partner 

organisations for specific aspects of the capital programme (e.g. CCTV, Sellafield vehicles) are also 

included in this line.   

 

B. The Commissioner holds a number of reserves that have been earmarked for specific capital 

purposes.  When these are applied to fund the capital programme the mechanism is for these to be 

cycled through the revenue budget.  There is a corresponding opposite entry contained within the 

movements to/from reserves line.  

 
C. The Commissioner has an underlying need to borrow which is known as the Capital Financing 

Requirement (CFR).  In order to ensure that budget proposals are prudent, the Commissioner is 

required to make a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).  The MRP can be likened to making the 

minimum payment on a credit card.  

 
D. The Commissioner has a 25 year PFI agreement in respect of the West TPA HQ at Workington.  The 

arrangements for accounting mean that the interest element of the annual unitary change made by 

the PFI provider is treated as capital financing.  The PFI arrangement was entered into in 2001 and is 

due to expire in August 2026. 

 

  

Description Paragraph 2018/19

£'s

2019/20

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Direct Revenue Contrbutions (DRC) A 1,683,727 1,771,608 87,881 5.22%

DRC - Use of Capital Reserves B 8,471,641 2,895,708 (5,575,933) -65.82%

Minimum Revenue Provision C 431,703 486,384 54,681 12.67%

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Interest D 602,322 583,581 (18,741) -3.11%

Total 11,189,393 5,737,281 (5,452,112) -48.73%

32



 

B9. Grants & Contributions 

The Commissioner receives a number of grants and contributions from central Government bodies and 

other partner organisations.  The majority of this income is in respect of the pensions top up grant 

received from the Home Office.  The table below provides an analysis of the budgeted income for 

2019/20 with comparatives for 2018/19. 

 

 

 

Notes: 

A. This is the estimated amount that will be received from the Home Office in respect of the police 

Pensions Top-up grant.  As it represents grant funding it is shown in the grant income receivable by 

the Commissioner. 

 

The police officer pension scheme is an unfunded pension scheme which means that there are no 

assets held by the pension scheme to cover liabilities.  The constabulary operates a Pension Fund 

Account for police pensions into which contributions from current serving police officers are paid 

(contribution rates between 11% and 15.05%) together with contributions from the constabulary as 

employer (at 31%).  From this fund, pension payments to former police officers are made.  The net 

balance on this pension fund account is a deficit and the Commissioner receives a Pensions Top-up 

Grant from the Home Office to balance the fund.  The transfer of this grant to the police pension 

fund account is shown within the constabulary funding section below (see C2). 

 

B. In 2019/20 the Constabulary has received an additional grant of £1.2m to offset part of the increased 

costs of pensions.  For the purposes of financial planning, it has been assumed that this grant will 

continue for the remainder of the MTFF. 

 

Description Paragraph 2018/19

£'s

2019/20

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Home Office - Police Pension Top Up A (22,574,000) (22,915,000) (341,000) 1.51%

Additional Pensions Grant B 0 (1,200,000) (1,200,000) 100.00%

Home Office - Other C (472,411) (288,317) 184,094 -38.97%

DCLG Grant - PFI Grant (687,708) (687,708) 0 0.00%

DCLG Grant - Council Tax Freeze Grant (857,812) (857,812) 0 0.00%

DCLG Grant - Council Tax Support Grant (3,991,947) (3,991,947) 0 0.00%

Ministry of Justice D (588,000) (575,661) 12,339 -2.10%

Home Office - Non Specific Capital Grant E (363,773) (371,698) (7,925) 2.18%

Total (29,535,651) (30,888,143) (1,352,492) 4.58%

33



 

C. The reduction in Home Office Grant Other income reflects the removal of funding in relation to the 

ports officers who are no longer core funded posts within the Constabulary.   

 

D. The Ministry of Justice grant is in respect of victims services including restorative justice.   

 
E. The Home Office Non Specific Capital Grant forms part of the annual funding settlement from the 

Home Office.  The figure for 2019/20 is £372k and represents an inflationary increase on the amount 

received for 2018/19 of £364k. 

 
 

B10. Interest/Investment Income 

The Commissioner invests surplus funds until these are required to fund operational requirements with 

financial institutions in accordance with the investment strategy (approved in February each year as part 

of his Treasury Management Strategy).  The current forecast for investment income is based on the 

forecast sums available for investment and the most likely interest rate that will be achieved on those 

investments.  The forecast income is relatively low due to the historically low bank base rate which was 

increased in August 2018 to 0.75% from its previous level of 0.50% which was set in November 2017. 

 

  

 

The interest/investment income forecast includes for 2019/20 the part year effect of assumed additional 

income as a result of investing longer term in a property or other managed fund during 2019/20.  The full 

year effect of this decision is included from 2020/21 onwards. 

 
 

  

Interst Rate 

Forecast

2018/19

£'s

2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

2021/22

£'S

2022/23

£'s

Quarter 1 0.50% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25%

Quarter 2 0.75% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25%

Quarter 3 0.75% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25%

Quarter 4 1.00% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25%

The increase in forecast income 
during for future years reflects the 
assumed increase as a result of the 
decision to invest in a property or 

managed fund.  This increase is 
being offset to a degree by a 
reduction in overall balances 

available for investment as capital 
reserves are depleted. 

 

34



 

Appendix C 

Constabulary Funding 

The largest portion of expenditure for the Commissioner (£130m in 2019/20) relates to funding provided 

to the Chief Constable by way of the funding arrangement.  The funding provided by the Commissioner 

is set out in the table below and is analysed into subjective headings.  More detailed analysis of the 

subjective headings is provided in the sections below (see C1-C10). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

Description Paragraph 2018/19

£'s

2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

2021/22

£'s

2022/23

£'s

Police Officer - Pay & Allowances C1 59,084,911 63,979,207 65,537,895 67,463,296 68,946,238

Police Officer - Contribution to Pension Fund Account C2 22,574,000 22,915,000 24,923,000 26,506,000 21,215,000

Police Officer - Ill Health & Injury Pensions C3 944,199 1,211,319 1,235,546 1,260,257 1,285,463

Police Community Support Officers C4 3,131,356 2,738,236 2,828,384 2,850,236 2,907,744

Police Staff - Pay & Allowances C5 20,684,681 22,479,618 22,950,542 23,532,663 24,363,643

Other Employee Benefits C6 1,160,125 1,358,150 1,384,899 1,404,319 1,432,406

Transport Related Expenditure C7 2,171,152 2,292,794 2,361,384 2,432,482 2,506,196

Supplies & Services C8 9,827,801 10,529,007 10,583,016 10,778,177 10,993,741

Third Party Related Expenditure C9 2,108,051 2,188,724 2,255,685 2,316,279 2,365,029

Gross Constabulary Expenditure 121,686,275 129,692,054 134,060,350 138,543,708 136,015,459

Income C10 (4,784,152) (5,210,621) (4,845,249) (4,791,517) (4,887,348)

Net Constabulary Funding 116,902,124 124,481,433 129,215,101 133,752,191 131,128,111

Police Officer - Pay & 
Allowances, £63,979, 49%

Police Officer -
Contribution to Pension 
Fund Account, £22,915, 

18%

Police Officer - Ill Health 
& Injury Pensions, 

£1,211, 1%

Police Community 
Support Officers, £2,738, 

2%

Police Staff - Pay & 
Allowances, £22,480, 17%

Other Employee Benefits, 
£1,358, 1%

Transport Related 
Expenditure, £2,293, 2%

Supplies & Services, 
£10,529, 8%

Third Party Related 
Expenditure, £2,189, 2%

Constabulary Gross Expenditure of £130m in 2019/20  
(figures in £000s) 

35



 

In overall terms expenditure has increased from £121.7m in 2018/19 to £129.7m in 2019/20, an increase 

of £8.0m.  Of the increase, £2.8m relates to police pensions, £0.6m relates to increasing police officer 

numbers by a further 20 FTE, with the balance being due to pay/price inflation at around 3% per annum. 

 

C1. Police Officer Pay and Allowances 

Police officer pay and allowances account for the majority (49%) of the Constabulary budget.  The budget 

is based on the current workforce plan.  The budget for 2019/20 is based on an increase of 20 police 

officers from 1145 to 1165 police officers.  Members will recall that the establishment for police officers 

was increased by 25 officers in 2018/19 from 1120 to 1145.  The Police Officer pay budget also includes 

the impact of proposed changes to police pension contributions from April 2019 which has impacted on 

overall pay budgets by around £2.8m. The pay budgets for Police Officers assume a 3% pay award each 

September over the life of the MTFF. 

 

C2. Contribution to the Police Pension Fund Account 

The Police Officer pension scheme is an unfunded pension scheme which means that there are no assets 

held by the pension scheme to cover liabilities.  The constabulary operates a Pension Fund Account for 

police pensions into which contributions from current serving police officers are paid (contribution rates 

between 11% and 15.05%) together with contributions from the constabulary as employer at 31%).  From 

this fund, pension payments to former police officers are made.  The net balance on this pension fund 

account is a deficit and the Commissioner receives a Pensions Top-up Grant from the Home Office to 

balance the fund.  This line within the constabulary budget reflects the constabulary’s contribution to the 

pension fund account to meet this deficit.  The grant itself is recorded within the Commissioner’s budgets 

(see Appendix B, line B10). 

 

  

36



 

C3. Ill Health & Injury Pensions 

The Constabulary has to meet the pension payments of police officers who have been required to be 

retired on an ill health or injury basis.  The budget is made up of two main elements:  

 Injury Allowance of £731k, this represents the initial lump sum and ongoing pension payments 

made to officers who have been retired as a result of an injury on duty.   

 Ill Health pension capital equivalent charge £480k.  When the constabulary is required, under 

police pension regulations, to retire an officer on ill health grounds, the constabulary has to meet 

a capital equivalent charge, this charge is equivalent to 2 years pay (approx. £80k).  The budget 

is based on the assumption that there will be six ill health retirements per year (this has increased 

from three in previous years). 

 

All other pension payments are met by the Pension Fund Account (see above) which is funded from in 

year officer and employer contributions plus a top up grant from the Home Office. 

 

C4. Police Community Support Officers 

The budget for Police Community Support Officers accounts for 2% of the constabulary budget and is 

based on an establishment of 95 FTE posts.  The budget recognises that under the workforce plan 

numbers of PCSOs are likely to operate below the establishment as PCSOs leave to join the regulars and 

a review of the appropriate workforce mix to meet modern policing needs is undertaken.  The pay 

budgets for PCSOs assume a 3% pay award each September over the life of the MTFF. 

 

C5. Police Staff  

Police staff pay and allowances account for 17% of the Constabulary budget.   Police staff budgets are 

based on the current workforce plan.  The figures have increased between 2018/19 and 2019/20 through 

a combination of pay awards and annual increments.  The pay budgets for Police Staff assume a 3% pay 

award each September over the life of the MTFF. 

 
C6. Other Employee Benefits 

The other employee benefits budget covers a mix of individual budget lines.  These budgets have been 

subject to an inflationary increase of 2.0% in the main.  The proposed other employee benefits budget 

for 2019/20 and a comparison with that of 2018/19 is shown in the table below: 

 

37



 

 
 

Notes: 

A. The Temporary and Agency staff budget provides funding to cover the incremental cost associated 

with providing temporary resources to cover in instances of parental leave or long term sickness.  

 

B. The reduction in respect of staff an officer recruitment costs is partly as a result of reduced levels of 

recruitment forecast in 2019/20.   

 
C. The increase in staff welfare costs in 2019/20 reflects the investment in psychological screening and 

counselling services to reduce waiting times and the inclusion of a donation to the NW benevolent 

fund.  Staff welfare costs include, counselling, physiotherapy, ergonomists and other medical fees 

and tests.   

 
D. Additional pension payments relate to historic pensions costs in respect of former employees who 

have retired early. 

 

E. The increase in training and conferences reflects increased demands for operational training, 

investment in strengths based coaching and costs associated with the implementation of the police 

education qualification framework (PEQF).  PEQF will require all police officer recruits to have a 

degree or join as an apprentice from January 2020. 

 
 

F. The apprenticeship levy was introduced on 1 April 2017 and is set at 0.5% of the pay budget.  The 

levy is paid into an electronic account and can be used to offset training costs.  

 

 
 
 

  

Description Paragraph 2018/19

£'s

2019/20

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Temporary & Agency Staff A 48,253 50,218 1,965 4.07%

Staff & Officer Recruitment Costs B 72,900 67,980 (4,920) -6.75%

Staff Welfare Costs C 177,734 215,772 38,038 21.40%

Employee Insurance 6,100 6,776 676 11.08%

Police Staff Pension Additional Payments D 64,823 66,119 1,296 2.00%

Training & Conferences Expenditure E 484,315 639,165 154,850 31.97%

Apprenticeship Levy F 306,000 312,120 6,120 2.00%

Total 1,160,125 1,358,150 198,025 17.07%

38



 

C7. Transport Related Budgets 

Expenditure on transport budgets accounts for approximately 2% of Constabulary expenditure.  The 

transport budgets have been uplifted for inflation at a rate of 2% in the main, the exception being fuel 

which has been increased by 5%.  The proposed transport related budget for 2019/20 and a comparison 

with that of 2018/19 is shown in the table below: 

 

 

 

Notes: 

A. The vehicle repairs and maintenance budget covers the routine servicing and maintenance of the 

constabulary vehicle fleet.  The budget also covers the costs of repairing accidental vehicle damage 

where this falls below the insurance excess. 

 

B. The vehicle fuel budget has increased.  The budgets for 2019/20 have been rebased to reflect the 

current level of activity and fuel prices.  In addition, fuel prices are expected to continue to rise and 

as a result a higher inflation rate of 5% has been applied to the vehicle fuel budget.  

 
C. Vehicle Hire costs have steadily increased over the past few years.  The increases in part relate to the 

cost of car hire associated with training.  In addition, the implementation of the travel desk has 

improved decision making around the most cost effective means of travel, this has seen a steady 

reduction in the amount of car mileage allowances paid over the years. 

 
D. Car allowances and travel expenses have reduced largely as a result of the implementation of the 

travel desk which has improved decision making around the most cost effective means of travel. 

 
 

 

  

Description Paragraph 2018/19

£'s

2019/20

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Vehicle Repair & Maintenance A 715,064 724,813 9,749 1.36%

Vehicle Fuel B 932,952 1,030,148 97,196 10.42%

Vehicle Contract Hire & Operating Leases C 192,086 212,657 20,571 10.71%

Car Allowances & Travel Expenses D 302,389 287,782 (14,607) -4.83%

Transport Other 28,661 37,394 8,733 30.47%

Total 2,171,152 2,292,794 121,642 5.60%

39



 

The vehicle fleet consists of 300 vehicles and can be broadly categorised as follows:   

 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Fleet Summary Number of 

vehicles in 

category

Covert 13

Neighbourhood Policing 92

Specialist Vehicles 29

Dog Vehicles 10

Motor Cycles 8

Pool Cars 30

Protected personnel Carriers 9

Roads Policing Vehicles 20

Crime Command 39

Crime Scene Investigators 10

Garage 6

Chief Officers Pool 2

Boat 1

Rechargable Vehicles 15

Total Fleet Vehicles 284

The vehicle fleet travels 
approximately 5.3 

million miles per year 
(reduced from 6.8m in 

2010/11).  

Cumbria has 4,784 
miles of roads of which 

76 are motorway.  

Cumbria officers check 
on average 125 

thousand vehicles per 
year.  

Fleet vehicle 
replacements are 
provided through 

the capital 
programme.  The 
current 10 year 

capital programme 
for fleet 

replacements 
amounts to £14m 

40



 

C8. Supplies & Services 

Expenditure on supplies & services accounts for approximately 8% of Constabulary budgets.  The majority 

of budgets have been increased for general inflation at 2%.   

 

 
 
 

Notes: 

 
A. The budget for catering services has been increased to more accurately reflect the costs now that 

the in-house provision has been running for more than a year.  The increase in costs is offset by an 

increase in income from catering recharges see C10, I below. 

 

B. The budget for clothing uniform and laundry has increased as a result of the planned profile of 

recruitment of police officers, in addition to this, the price for uniform components has increased. 

 
C. The budget for custody costs has increased as a result of an increase in detained persons clothing 

costs and in addition, the demand for the use of the appropriate adult service has increased due to 

a change in guidance which means that more detainees are being classed as vulnerable and therefore 

need to be provided with an appropriate adult. 

 
D. The budget for Forensics has increased due to a national problem regarding the financial viability of 

forensics services suppliers. 

 
E. The budget for interpreters and translators has reduced as part of the zero based budget and star 

chamber process. 

 

Description Paragraph 2018/19

£'s

2019/20

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Office Equipment, Furniture & Materials 233,968 223,921 (10,047) -4.29%

Catering Services A 152,657 195,063 42,406 27.78%

Clothing, Uniform & Laundry B 474,558 519,516 44,958 9.47%

Custody Costs C 144,243 157,966 13,723 9.51%

Forensics Costs D 693,460 834,725 141,265 20.37%

Investigative Expenses 115,686 102,439 (13,247) -11.45%

Police Doctors & Surgeons 1,331,126 1,359,522 28,396 2.13%

Interpreters & Translators E 55,462 46,100 (9,362) -16.88%

Communications & Computing F 4,530,610 5,074,497 543,887 12.00%

Members Allowances & Expenses 8,034 7,931 (103) -1.28%

Other Supplies & Services G 2,015,687 1,908,016 (107,671) -5.34%

Printing Recharges 72,310 75,011 2,701 3.74%

Catering Recharges A 0 24,300 24,300 100.00%

Total 9,827,801 10,529,007 701,206 7.13%

41



 

F. Communications and Computing costs have increased as a result of the inclusion of the ongoing costs 

associated with the new control room system known as SAFE, for 2019/20 there is an element 

additional costs associated with transitioning between the old and new system. 

 
G. Other Supplies and Services includes a variety of budget lines including subscriptions, audit fees, 

operational equipment and accommodation and subsistence. 

 
 
 
C9. Third Party Related 

Expenditure on third party payments accounts for just 2% of overall Constabulary funding and covers a 

wide range of items.   

 

 
 

Notes: 

A. The increase in Collaborations and Co-working reflects an increase in the facilities management 

services provided by the estates team in respect of NW Ambulance Service, a corresponding increase 

in the general trading income budget has also been included below see C10. 

 

B. The increase in collaboration payments relates to an increase in the commitment to the NW regional 

crime unit and the Firearms training collaboration. 

 
C. The fees payable in respect of Police National Computer/Database have reduced. 

 

D. The reduction in other third party payments is largely as a result of the removal of a one off budget 

in 2018/19 in respect of a national polygraph project, this reduction is being offset by other smaller 

new contributions for 2019/20. 

 

 
  

Description Paragraph 2018/19

£'s

2019/20

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Collaborations & Co-Working A 267,544 315,448 47,904 17.91%

Outsourced Services 142,748 147,003 4,255 2.98%

Collaboration Payments B 856,354 906,719 50,365 5.88%

Police National Computer / Database C 481,897 477,405 (4,492) -0.93%

Other Third Party Payments D 359,508 342,149 (17,359) -4.83%

Total 2,108,051 2,188,724 80,673 3.83%

42



 

C10. Income 

The Constabulary receives a relatively small amount of income each year, just 4% when compared with 

Constabulary gross expenditure. The majority of income budgets have been increased for general 

inflation at 2%. 

 

 

 

Notes: 

 

A. Specific partnership funding has increased largely as a result of the inclusion of support for the 

operation encompass project. 

 

B. The reduction in relation to fees and charges public fees line relates to the cyclical nature of firearms 

licencing income which follows a 5 year renewal cycle. 

 
C. The increase in fees and charges general income is as a result of more accurately reflecting the 

expected income from driver awareness courses.  From January 2019, some of this income is being 

specifically targeted to providing an addition 3 road safety officers across the county.   

 
D. The increase in single and recurring events is as a result of this budget being re-based in respect of 

specialist policing operations to the level of anticipated income for the 2019/20 financial year.  This 

budget includes specialist policing services in respect of events such as football matches, Kendal 

Calling and escorting abnormal loads. 

 

Description Paragraph 2018/19

£'s

2019/20

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Local Government Funding - Specific Partnership A (100,634) (116,018) (15,384) 15.29%

Sale of Assets & Goods (288,979) (280,751) 8,228 -2.85%

Fees & Charges - Public Fees B (259,616) (206,359) 53,257 -20.51%

Fees & Charges - Rental & Hire Charges (24,550) (26,259) (1,709) 6.96%

Fees & Charges - General C (995,145) (1,144,641) (149,496) 15.02%

Private Hire - Single & Reccuring Events D (515,649) (650,550) (134,901) 26.16%

Inter Force Reimbursements Incl. Collaboration E (89,497) (256,013) (166,516) 186.06%

Reimbursed Services - Other Public Bodies F (1,012,184) (1,063,310) (51,126) 5.05%

Transport Trading Income (2,079) (2,121) (42) 2.02%

General Trading Income (392,571) (409,197) (16,626) 4.24%

Contributions & Reimbursements by Staff (1,970) (1,750) 220 -11.17%

Proceeds of Crime G (102,000) (120,796) (18,796) 18.43%

Reimbursements of Licence Expenditure (13,260) (13,525) (265) 2.00%

Sources of Income from Other Forces H (893,909) (799,822) 94,087 -10.53%

Internal Recharges Income - Printing (92,109) (95,509) (3,400) 3.69%

Internal Recharges Income - Catering I 0 (24,000) (24,000) -100.00%

Total (4,784,152) (5,210,621) (426,469) 8.91%

43



 

E. The increase in respect of inter force collaboration is partially a result of a change in funding method 

in relation to ports officers, the income was previously received as a grant and as such was shown 

with PCC grants and contributions (see B9, B above), in addition increased funding in respect of a 

prevent officer. 

 
F. The increase in income in respect of reimbursed services other public bodies, is largely as a result of 

forecast increases in costs awarded to the police. 

 
G. The reduction in income from other forces reflects the removal of the one-off income in respect of 

the national polygraph project (see C9, D above) and the Prison Intelligence Officer.  

 
H. Internal recharges income catering.  The in-house catering provision has now been operating for over 

a year and the budgets for 2019/20 more accurately reflect the current operating model.  The 

increased internal recharges income offset increased costs of catering services (see section C8, A 

above). 

44



 

 
 

Cumbria Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner 

 

Title: Draft Capital Programme 2019/20 & Beyond 
 
Police and Crime Panel: 21 January 2019 

Police and Crime Panel Budget Briefing: 14 January 2019 

 

 
Report of the Joint Chief Finance Officer  
 
Originating Officers:   Michelle Bellis, Deputy Chief Finance Officer  

Lorraine Holme, Financial Services Manager 

 

 

1. Purpose of the Report 

1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide information on the proposed capital programme for 2019/20 

and beyond, both in terms of capital expenditure projections and the financing available to fund such 

expenditure.  The capital programme is developed in consultation with the Constabulary who are the 

primary user of the capital assets under the ownership of the Commissioner. 

 
 

2. Recommendations 

2.1. Police and Crime Panel members are asked to note the proposed capital strategy for 2019/20 and 

beyond as part of the overall budget process for 2019/20. 

 

 

45

Agenda Item 8c



 

3. Capital Funding and Expenditure 

3.1. Local Authorities (including Police and Crime Commissioners) determine their own programmes for 

capital investment in non-current (fixed) assets that are essential to the delivery of quality public 

services.  The Commissioner is required by regulation to have regard to The Prudential Code when 

carrying out his duties in England and Wales under part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003.  The 

Prudential Code establishes a framework to support local strategic planning, local asset management 

planning and proper option appraisal.  The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure: “within a 

clear framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and 

sustainable”.  To meet these requirements, all schemes within the 4-year medium term capital 

programme are only approved on the basis that they are fully funded either through capital grants, 

capital reserves, capital receipts, revenue contributions or planned borrowing. 

 

3.2. There are three main recurring elements to the Commissioner’s capital programme namely: Fleet 

Schemes, Estates Schemes and ICT Schemes.  In addition to these there are currently a small number 

of “other schemes” which do not fall into the broad headings above and in particular includes the 

replacement of taser and firearms equipment and replacement of the countywide CCTV system in the 

longer term.  

 

3.3. The table below provides a high-level summary of the proposed capital programme and associated 

capital financing over the four-year timeframe of the medium term financial forecast (2019/20 to 

2022/2023). 

 

Capital Expenditure Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

£ £ £ £ £

ICT Schemes 2,551,985 5,894,891 4,961,009 2,333,071 983,946

Fleet Schemes 1,218,830 1,344,907 2,025,720 946,504 1,573,570

Estates Schemes 3,709,692 1,964,172 590,000 1,575,000 5,825,000

Other Schemes 119,845 250,000 42,770 500,000 0

Total Capital Expenditure 7,600,352 9,453,969 7,619,499 5,354,575 8,382,516

Capital Financing Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

£ £ £ £ £

Capital Receipts 0 0 (2,126,352) (163,737) 0

Contributions from Revenue (1,486,788) (1,771,608) (3,392,173) (3,244,140) (3,242,952)

Capital Grants (575,051) (4,786,653) (2,100,974) (371,698) 0

Capital Reserves (5,538,513) (2,895,708) 0 (1,575,000) (1,739,564)

Borrowing 0 0 0 0 (3,400,000)

Total Capital Financing (7,600,352) (9,453,969) (7,619,499) (5,354,575) (8,382,516)

Capital Budget (Excess)/Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0

46



 

3.4. The profile of capital expenditure fluctuates annually.  Across the current ten year programme, annual 

average expenditure typically comprises £1.4m to replace fleet vehicles, £1.7m on estate schemes and 

around £3.2m for replacement of ICT systems and equipment.  ICT Expenditure reflects the 

Constabulary Strategy to invest in technology along with the national programme to replace the Police 

Radio System (Airwave) with an Emergency Services Network (ESN). 

 

3.5. By the end of 2020/21 historic capital grant and general capital reserves will have been fully utilised.  

This means that the capital programme from 2021/22 becomes more reliant on revenue contributions 

to fund capital expenditure.  Historically the annual contribution from the revenue budget was set at 

£1.2m.  When setting the capital budgets for 2017/18 onwards (PCP Jan 2017) to ensure the stability 

of the capital programme the annual contributions were increased to £1.7m for 2018/19 and 2019/20 

and rising to £3.0m per annum from 2020/21 as accumulated capital reserves and grant are fully 

extinguished.  The financing presented in this report includes an additional increase to revenue 

contributions of £0.3m per annum from 2020/21.  The funding settlement figures announced on 13 

December 2018 stated that the capital grant will be £372k, this is an increase of £8k on the previous 

financial year.  It is assumed in this strategy that the capital grant will remain at this new level each 

year for the full 10 years. 

 
3.6. A summary of the 10-year capital programme is provided for information at Appendix 1.  The appendix 

shows that the capital programme is fully funded over the medium term four-year period to 2022/23.  

The appendix also shows that in years 5-10 of the programme there are some shortfalls and excesses 

that amount to a combined net shortfall of £2.1m.  The estimates for 5-10 years are built on a number 

of assumptions and relatively unknown costs making it difficult to accurately predict project costs. 

Department heads have been tasked with finding savings and new ways of working to reduce the 

planned expenditure across all areas, with the aim of bringing the programme back into balance over 

the longer term. 

 
3.7. As a result of the majority of capital expenditure being in relation to relatively short lived assets (e.g. 

ICT and fleet of up to 10 years’ life), choices for financing the capital expenditure are fairly limited.  

Borrowing for short-lived assets is not a viable consideration due to the requirement to set aside funds 

from revenue for the repayment of debt over the life of the asset.  Therefore, any future borrowing 

would have to be in relation to building projects with a life of 50 years.  It can be seen in Appendix 1 

that during 2022/23 and 2023/24 it is estimated that the Commissioner will need to borrow £9m.  This 

is linked to an indicative scheme to improve the Commissioner’s estate in the west of the county.   A 

full options evaluation exercise and formal report will be required before any firm decisions are made 

in relation to this project.   

47



 

The chart below illustrates capital expenditure and funding over the ten-year period: 

 

 
 

 
3.8. ICT Schemes 

The ICT Capital Programme primarily provides for the cyclical replacement and improvement of the 

full range of ICT equipment, hardware and application software to meet the strategic and operational 

needs of the Constabulary. However, over the period of the medium term financial forecast it also 

supports the Constabulary strategy to invest in technology to modernise the police service that is 

delivered to our communities.  The Policing Vision 2025 issued by the APCC and NPCC seeks to 

transform the delivery of policing services and positions ICT as a key enabler of change.  These plans 

for the future will be developed and managed locally within the work streams of Cumbria Vision 2025.     

 

The ICT capital programme is supported by the ICT strategy, an annual refresh of which will be 

presented to the Commissioner for approval at the Public Accountability Conference in February 2019 

as part of the overall budget process for 2019/20.   

 

The ICT Capital Programme also makes provision for a large number of national ICT programmes, which 

include changes of major strategic importance the programme to replace the Police Radio System 

(Airwave) with an Emergency Services Network (ESN).  The ESN scheme is included in the capital 

programme at the estimated cost of £2.4m over the four years of the MTFF and £5.9m over 10 years.  

Details of requirements are still emerging and it won’t be clear as to the financial commitment needed 

locally until the Home Office release further information and devices are developed.  There is slippage 

48



 

being reported by the national ESN programme and it is likely to be well into 2019 before we get any 

further clarity.  The replacement Airwave handsets will use different technology to the old radios and 

the Constabulary’s control room infrastructure needs to be upgraded if it is to be ready to support the 

connection to ESN.  

 

The current command and control infrastructure in the control room is a large and complex network 

of ten inherited legacy systems that provide a suite of applications to manage incidents.  A scheme to 

replace these systems with a single fully integrated solution provided by Saab, known as SAFE, has 

commenced and is expected to be implemented in 2019/20. 

 

If these two large schemes are discounted, the programme shows that the ICT capital programme 

presented remains broadly flat over the 10 years at approximately £2.2m per annum.   This provides 

for the cyclical replacement and improvement of the full range of ICT services: the networks, security 

and storage data centre capacity that ensures information can be moved securely between the 

different systems and device end points through which it is entered, processed and stored.  It also 

covers local and mandated national police systems such as the main crime and intelligence system, 

command and control, forensics management, prisoner information systems, case and custody, 

including digital files for sharing with Criminal Justice partners and the police national data base that 

supports the sharing of information between forces.   

 

The Constabulary also maintains a range of ICT systems to manage corporate functions including 

financial transactions, human resources, payroll, fleet management, estates management, ICT support 

systems and training and learning systems.  Over recent years significant investment in mobile and 

digital ICT has been undertaken, the capital strategy presented provides for the subsequent 

replacement of existing mobile devices as they reach end of life.  Budgets for devices also provide for 

the costs of all the different technology used to access systems, including traditional desktop 

computers, laptops, tablets as well as the smartphones that use application technology (police apps), 

but importantly provide end user access to all systems and applications.   

 

Appendix 2 provides a high-level analysis of the ICT capital programme. 

 
  

49



 

3.9. Fleet Schemes  

The constabulary fleet replacement programme consists of 300 vehicles.  The capital programme 

provides for the replacement and kit out of these vehicles on a periodic basis at the end of their useful 

life.  The fleet schemes are supported by the fleet strategy, an annual refresh of which will be 

presented to the Commissioner for approval at the Public Accountability Conference in February 2019 

as part of the overall budget process for 2019/20.  The fleet strategy sets out the constabulary fleet 

requirements over the coming years.  The main aim of the fleet strategy is to provide a cost effective 

fleet service to meet the needs of operational policing.  The majority of vehicles are procured through 

a national framework agreement which ensures value for money is achieved.   

 

During 2014/15 a large number of marked operational policing vehicles (e.g. ford focus estates, dogs 

vans and transit vans) were replaced with a single vehicle platform (SVP) which is based on a one size 

fits all model, this SVP vehicle provides a 

single fit for purpose vehicle type to meet 

the majority of requirements.  These 

vehicles are now approaching end of life 

and those with the highest mileage are 

becoming expensive to maintain.  In the 

programme presented half of the single 

vehicle platform vehicles have been 

brought forward for replacement in 

2019/20   

 

Changes in permitted emissions levels have led to the temporary withdrawal of some car models whilst 

the manufacturers test and make modifications to their engines.  This has lead to delays in delivery of 

certain vehicles, but more importantly for this program, it has led to an increase in prices for the new 

models as manufacturer’s seek to cover the costs of the additional work.  Approximately £700k has 

been added to the fleet 10 year program in response to these additional costs.      

 

 

Appendix 3 provides a high-level analysis of the fleet capital programme. 

 

The 2019/20 capital programme is recommended for approval on a firm basis; the programme for 

future years is currently indicative and subject to change as the fleet programme develops to meet the 

changing needs of the organisation and the continual review process. 

50



 

3.10. Estates Schemes 

The Commissioner’s estate currently consists of 30 premises (including police headquarters, larger 

police stations/Territorial Policing Area HQ, which include custody suites, smaller police stations, one 

police house, leased in and leased out property together with surplus assets subject to disposal).  The 

estates schemes are supported by the estates strategy, an annual refresh of which will be presented 

to the Commissioner for approval at the Public Accountability Conference in February 2019 as part of 

the overall budget process for 2019/20.  The estates strategy aims to provide a link between the 

strategic objectives of the organisation and priorities for the estate.  The strategy outlines the current 

and future requirements of the estate and documents the changes that are required to meet these.    

 

The estates capital programme 

presented in February 2017 

included the development of a new 

Eden Deployment base and 

replacement hostel accommodation 

on the HQ site at Penrith.  

Construction on this base is well 

under way and scheduled to be 

operational late in 2019.    

 

The Eden Deployment base accounts for the vast majority of the estates programme for 2019/20 

leaving only a small amount of cyclical replacement schemes e.g. roof repairs at Whitehaven and 

Kendal along with replacement of the UPS (Uninterrupted Power Supply) at the HQ site in Penrith.    

 

Further into the medium term there is budget allocated to provide improved premises in the west of 

the county in response to major flooding incidents in recent years.  Beyond this in the 10 year plan, 

the estates capital budget reduces significantly once the west scheme is complete, to leave on average 

£205k per year for replacement schemes. 

 

Appendix 4 provides a high-level analysis of the estates capital programme. 

 

 

 

 

 

51



 

3.11. Other Schemes 

Other schemes include cross cutting or operational programmes of work and include the replacement 

of Tasers and Glock Pistols, works to expand and replace the Countywide CCTV system. 

 

Appendix 5 provides a high-level analysis of the ‘other’ schemes. 

 

 

 

 

4. Supplementary information 

Attachments 

Appendix 1 Capital Expenditure and Financing 10 years 2019/20 to 2028/29  

Appendix 2 ICT Schemes 

Appendix 3 Fleet Schemes 

Appendix 4 Estates Schemes 

Appendix 5 Other Schemes 

Appendix 6  Analysis of the change in Capital Strategy between February 2018 and January 2019 

52



 

Appendix 1 
Capital Expenditure and Financing 10 years 2019/20 to 2028/29   
 

 

 
 
 
 
A more detailed analysis of capital expenditure is provided at Appendices 2-5.

Capital Expenditure Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6 Yr 7 Yr 8 Yr 9 Yr 10 Yr 1-10

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 Total

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

ICT Schemes 2,551,985 5,894,891 4,961,009 2,333,071 983,946 5,360,861 1,660,777 2,987,820 3,581,661 1,521,463 2,492,652 31,778,150

Fleet Schemes 1,218,830 1,344,907 2,025,720 946,504 1,573,570 1,088,856 1,014,640 1,977,360 1,780,452 1,175,080 1,518,424 14,445,513

Estates Schemes 3,709,692 1,964,172 590,000 1,575,000 5,825,000 5,600,000 150,000 350,000 295,000 125,000 105,000 16,579,172

Other Schemes 119,845 250,000 42,770 500,000 0 0 0 0 0 500,000 0 1,292,770

Total Capital Expenditure 7,600,352 9,453,969 7,619,499 5,354,575 8,382,516 12,049,717 2,825,417 5,315,180 5,657,113 3,321,543 4,116,076 64,095,604

Capital Financing Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6 Yr 7 Yr 8 Yr 9 Yr 10 Yr 1-10

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 Total

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Capital Receipts 0 0 (2,126,352) (163,737) 0 (1,599,663) 0 (1,000,000) 0 0 0 (4,889,752)

Contributions from Revenue (1,486,788) (1,771,608) (3,392,173) (3,244,140) (3,242,952) (3,241,729) (3,305,369) (3,272,211) (3,301,104) (3,236,457) (3,304,659) (31,312,401)

Capital Grants (575,051) (4,786,653) (2,100,974) (371,698) 0 (743,396) 0 (743,396) (371,698) (371,698) (371,698) (9,861,211)

Capital Reserves (5,538,513) (2,895,708) 0 (1,575,000) (1,739,564) (685,436) 0 0 0 0 0 (6,895,708)

Borrowing 0 0 0 0 (3,400,000) (5,600,000) 0 0 0 0 0 (9,000,000)

Total Capital Financing (7,600,352) (9,453,969) (7,619,499) (5,354,575) (8,382,516) (11,870,223) (3,305,369) (5,015,607) (3,672,802) (3,608,155) (3,676,357) (61,959,073)

Capital Budget (Excess)/Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0 179,494 (479,952) 299,573 1,984,311 (286,612) 439,719 2,136,532

53



 

Appendix 2 
ICT Schemes 
 

 
 
Status - The ICT schemes within the capital programme above consolidate a significant number of complex and interrelated projects.  The status of schemes is subject to 
agreement between the Commissioner and Constabulary.  It is recommended that delegated approval is given to the Joint Chief Finance Officer to agree the status of 
schemes on the basis of the following principles: 
 
Firm Schemes 
• Schemes that are either routine cyclical upgrade of existing systems/hardware/software 
• Schemes which have been approved by the Commissioner following submission of a business case/decision report 
 
Delegated Schemes 
• Schemes agreed in principle by decision report, where the detail of the financial profile/procurement/implementation plans are still to be developed 
• Schemes within the Joint Chief Finance Officer’s virement authorisation limits for which there is a clear business case 
• Schemes above the Joint Chief Finance Officer’s virement authorisation limits, but which are nationally mandated and supported by a business case.   
 
Schemes not meeting the principles for firm or delegated schemes will be classed as indicative and will require a business case or decision report to the Commissioner 
before approval is given to commence with the scheme.  The status of schemes applies to the funding for the four years 2019/20 to 2022/23, covering the period for which 
the capital programme is fully funded.  

ICT Summary Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6 Yr 7 Yr 8 Yr 9 Yr 10 Yr 1-10

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 Total

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

ICT End User Hardware Replacement (002x) 110,340 1,274,799 136,711 1,342,042 267,270 1,006,063 626,063 136,360 1,489,212 237,213 241,927 6,757,660

ICT Core Hardware Replacement (003/004x) 1,852,669 2,893,171 2,749,782 398,302 517,750 1,046,400 573,448 2,699,766 479,783 759,058 1,152,509 13,269,969

ICT Core Infrastructure Replacement (projects) 62,493 50,000 1,998,200 300,000 96,094 2,032,092 0 0 1,851,918 0 0 6,328,304

ICT Infrastructure Solution Replacement (Projects) 526,483 1,676,920 76,316 292,726 471,708 1,727,445 553,084 799,878 90,744 756,836 1,589,203 8,034,861

Savings Target - 15% Year 5-10 (linked to ICT tech 

advances)
0 0 0 0 (368,876) (451,139) (91,818) (648,184) (329,996) (231,644) (490,987) (2,612,645)

General Prudent Slippage (linked to workloads and 

staffing levels)
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total ICT Summary 2,551,985 5,894,891 4,961,009 2,333,071 983,946 5,360,861 1,660,777 2,987,820 3,581,661 1,521,463 2,492,652 31,778,150

54



 

Appendix 3 

Fleet Schemes 

 
 
Status - Fleet Replacement - It is recommended that all fleet replacement schemes are approved as firm for 2019/20 only.  This provides authority to procure on the basis of 
the currently approved fleet strategy.  The strategy will be reviewed during 2020/21 to inform the status of the capital programme in future years. 
 
  

Fleet Summary Number of Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6 Yr 7 Yr 8 Yr 9 Yr 10 Yr 1-10

Proposed Vehicles in 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 Total

Category £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Covert 13 74,200 107,498 0 83,824 27,560 81,000 94,600 22,400 91,884 30,160 88,500 627,426

Neighbourhood Policing 92 283,030 660,000 979,200 0 723,980 421,200 0 768,320 1,094,400 792,280 460,200 5,899,580

Specialist Vehicles 29 284,040 260,000 0 150,800 108,120 153,360 162,800 257,600 80,940 257,520 70,800 1,501,940

Dog Vehicles 10 0 35,000 285,600 0 0 37,800 38,500 313,600 0 0 0 710,500

Motor Cycles 8 0 0 0 0 0 16,200 0 141,120 0 0 17,700 175,020

Pool Cars 30 15,300 13,000 53,040 135,200 15,900 128,736 40,040 20,160 38,418 60,320 180,304 685,118

Protected personnel Carriers 9 46,716 0 0 187,200 254,400 0 0 0 136,800 0 0 578,400

Roads Policing Vehicles 20 122,400 0 408,000 336,960 159,000 0 440,000 362,880 171,000 0 472,000 2,349,840

Crime Command 39 130,000 106,000 0 31,200 0 210,600 135,300 58,240 103,740 34,800 0 679,880

Crime Scene Investigators 10 62,100 0 0 21,320 284,610 0 0 0 0 0 0 305,930

Garage 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 159,300 159,300

Boat 1 135,000 0 153,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 153,000

Chief Officer Pool 2 0 0 0 0 0 39,960 38,500 0 0 0 0 78,460

Above Strength Vehicles 16 35,700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Rechargable Vehicles 15 30,344 163,409 146,880 0 0 0 64,900 33,040 63,270 0 69,620 541,119

0

Fleet Savings - Growth Limited to 50% 0

Total Fleet Summary 300 0 1,218,830 0 1,344,907 2,025,720 946,504 1,573,570 1,088,856 1,014,640 1,977,360 1,780,452 1,175,080 1,518,424 14,445,513

Number of Vehicles Replaced Each Year 50 44 60 35 44 47 39 60 53 40 49 471

55



 

Appendix 4 

Estates Schemes 

 

Estates Schemes Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6 Yr 7 Yr 8 Yr 9 Yr 10 Yr 1-10

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 Total

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Existing Schemes

Roof Repairs - Various

Whitehaven Police Station 0 37,625 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 37,625

Kendal Police Station 0 55,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 120000 0 0 175,000

Roof Repairs  - HQ Dog section 0 0 70,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 70,000

Heating, Ventilation & Cooling Plant - Various

Police Headquarters 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 300,000 0 0 0 300,000

Barrow HVAC 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 60,000          0 60,000

Other Existing Schemes

UPS Durranhill 0 0 0 0 0 0 150,000 0 0 0 0 150,000

UPS HQ 0 100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30,000          130,000

UPS Barrow 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15,000          0 15,000

North Resilience Flood Management - NPT/Hostel 3,300,000 1,771,547 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,771,547

Workington - Land Purchase 300,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Garage Provision 0 0 500,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 500,000

Durranhill - Replacement CCTV system and cell call 50,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 0 0 50,000

Kendal CCTV and Cell Call 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,000          0 50,000

West Resilience Flood Management 0 0 0 1,575,000 5,825,000 5,600,000 0 0 0 0 0 13,000,000

Roof Repairs & Glazing  - Durranhill 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 75,000 0 0 75,000

HQ Static invertor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 0 50,000

HQ firearms flood defence to ventilation plant 9,692 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HQ window conservation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 0 50,000

Durranhill heat and vent plant 50,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gas suppression cylinder replacements 0 0 20,000          0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,000

Sub Total Existing Estates Schemes 3,709,692 1,964,172 590,000 1,575,000 5,825,000 5,600,000 150,000 350,000 295,000 125,000 30,000 16,504,172

New Estates Schemes 2019/20

Barrow CCTV camera replacement 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 35,000          35,000

Kendal M&E plant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,000          20,000

Carlisle M&E plant (area 2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,000          20,000

Sub Total New Estates Schemes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 75,000 75,000

Total Estates Schemes 3,709,692 1,964,172 590,000 1,575,000 5,825,000 5,600,000 150,000 350,000 295,000 125,000 105,000 16,579,172

56



 

Appendix 5 

Other Schemes  

 

 

Other Scheme Status Recommendations* 
 

1. It is recommended that the remainder of the original CCTV scheme remains approved as firm, but that the wholescale replacement of the system in 2021/22 be 
subject to a business case. 

2. It is recommended that the Glock Pistol Replacement and Taser replacement schemes be approved on an indicative basis subject to a business case from the Territorial 
Policing Commander being presented to the Commissioner for approval. 

*scheme status applies to the financial profile between 2019/20 and 2022/23 only unless otherwise stated. 

 
Estates Scheme Status Recommendations* 

3. It is recommended that schemes (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (h), (j), (k) and (l) be approved as firm, these being routine cyclical replacement, upgrade of existing facilities 
or continuation of previously agreed schemes. 

2. It is recommended that schemes (g) and (i) be agreed in principle as indicative schemes and subject to a business case being approved by the Commissioner. 
 
*scheme status applies to the financial profile between 2019/20 and 2022/23 only unless otherwise stated. 

Other Schemes Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6 Yr 7 Yr 8 Yr 9 Yr 10 Yr 1-10

2019/20 onwards 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 Total

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

CCTV 23,890 0 0 500,000 0 0 0 0 0 500,000 0 1,000,000

ANPR 49,855 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Portable Ballistic Protective Equipment 46,100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

X2 Taser migration 0 250,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 250,000

Glock Pistol Replacement 0 0 42,770 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 42,770

Total Other Schemes 119,845 250,000 42,770 500,000 0 0 0 0 0 500,000 0 1,292,77057



 

Appendix 6 

Analysis of the change in Capital Strategy between February 2018 and the 

January 2019 position. 

 

Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4

4 Year Total 

(£)

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 TOTAL

£ £ £ £ £

Capital Strategy - February 2018 7,441,788 7,470,741 9,326,423 9,177,825 33,416,777

Capital Strategy  - Proposed (January 2019) 9,453,969 7,619,499 5,354,575 8,382,516 30,810,559

Difference (decrease)/Increase 2,012,181 148,758 (3,971,849) (795,308) (2,606,218)

Difference by Type

  -  ICT Schemes 1,440,715 1,650,226 327,563 (1,106,348) 2,312,155

  -  Fleet Schemes 639,891 (215,238) (49,412) 86,040 461,281

  -  Estates Schemes 274,576 (1,275,000) (4,250,000) 225,000 (5,025,425)

  -  Other Schemes (343,000) (11,230) 0 0 (354,230)

Difference (decrease)/Increase 2,012,181 148,758 (3,971,849) (795,308) (2,606,218)

Explanation of the Difference by Type

  -  ICT Schemes

Change in telephony profile to 5 years 30,000 0 0 (33,000) (3,000)

Change in mobile device profile 0 0 (106,500) 13,520 (92,980)

Change in Smartphone profile 209,950 (18,888) (19,307) (19,733) 152,022

Slippage 17/18 to 18/19 and 18/19 to 19/20 3,167,481 50,000 (31,900) (30,800) 3,154,781

Transfer to revenue (110,000) 0 0 0 (110,000)

Change in National ESN Project (1,948,200) 1,648,200 300,000 (1,398,492) (1,398,492)

Storage requirement added in 120,000 0 0 387,679 507,679

Case and Custody future development removed (51,000) (52,020) (53,060) (54,122) (210,202)

BWV new scheme replacement 22,484 22,934 238,330 28,600 312,348

  -  Fleet Schemes

Peugeot Expert Price Increase 0 128,000 0 0 128,000

Peugeot Expert Price Increase and B/Fwd 750,000 (650,000) 0 0 100,000

18/19 Slipped to 19/20 and future 133,498 0 0 50,000 183,498

Replacement extended (410,000) 387,000 20,000 (53,000) (56,000)

Write Off (15,700) (43,000) (50,000) 100,000 (8,700)

Price Increase 49,800 46,700 42,500 35,300 174,300

Price Decrease (4,000) 0 (25,100) (100) (29,200)

Inflation (27,116) (83,938) (36,812) (46,160) (194,026)

Camera Scheme (recharged) 163,409 163,409

  -  Estates Schemes

Change in Eden NPT Scheme 574,576 0 0 0 574,576

Re-profile of the West Scheme (300,000) (1,275,000) (4,250,000) 225,000 (5,600,000)

  -  Other Schemes

Business Analytics - removed from capital (343,000) (54,000) 0 0 (397,000)

Glock Replacement added in 0 42,770 0 0 42,770

Difference (decrease)/Increase 2,012,181 148,758 (3,971,849) (795,308) (2,606,218)

Difference left to explain 0 0 0 0 0

58



 

 
 
Cumbria Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

  

Police and Crime Panel 21st January 2019 
 

Precept Proposal and Medium Term Budget 2019/20 to 2022/23 

Report of the Joint Chief Finance Officer 

 
 

1. Purpose of the Report 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide for members of the Police and Crime Panel an overview 

of the medium term financial outlook.  It includes the proposal for the precept that the 

Commissioner is presenting to the Panel for their views as part his budget setting process.  This 

report comprises a high level analysis of the overall financial positon in support of the precept 

proposal.  Further detail and analysis on revenue and capital budgets, value for money and 

supporting information is provided in a series of accompanying separate reports on the agenda. 

 

2. Precept Proposal 
2.1. The precept proposal for 2019/20 is for an increase in precept of 10.29%.  This is an increase of 

£23.94 per annum for a band D property and takes the total police element of the precept at 

band D to £256.68. 

 

 

 

Council 

Tax Band
Proportion

Council Tax 

Amount £

Council Tax 

Amount £

Increase 

£

Increase 

%

Band A 6/9 ths 155.16        171.12        15.96      10.29%

Band B 7/9 ths 181.02        199.64        18.62      10.29%

Band C 8/9 ths 206.88        228.16        21.28      10.29%

Band D 9/9 ths 232.74        256.68        23.94      10.29%

Band E 11/9 ths 284.46        313.72        29.26      10.29%

Band F 13/9 ths 336.18        370.76        34.58      10.29%

Band G 15/9 ths 387.90        427.80        39.90      10.29%

Band H 18/9 ths 465.48        513.36        47.88      10.29%

2018/19 Council Tax Proposed 2019/20 Precept

The Band D 
precept is 

proposed to 
increase to 

£256.68 which 
equates to 

£4.94 per week 
or £0.70p per 

day.  

In Cumbria the largest number of properties fall into Band B.  For that band, the precept is 
proposed to increase to £199.64 which equates to £3.84 per week or £0.55p per day.  

59

Agenda Item 8e



 

2.2. At the time of writing this report, the Police and Crime Commissioners Treasurers Society 

(PACCTS) had surveyed its membership and had received responses from 36 out of a possible 42 

forces.  The survey revealed that: 

 31 forces indicated a planned precept of £24 (or within a few pennies) in 2019/20, many are 

still subject to public consultation.  Of these: 

o 4 are “uncertain”,  

o 6 are “Treasurer’s plans”,  

o 10 are “Quite firm – recommended to PCC” and  

o 11 are “firm – accepted by PCC”.   

 Of the remaining 5 who are not planning a £24 increase – all are proposing increases above 

£11.50. 

 

2.3. Of the further sections within this report, and in support of this proposal, section three 

summarises for members for 2019/20 the main areas of income and expenditure within the 

budget, including the contribution made by council tax.  Section four sets out the medium term 

financial position, explaining the gap between income and expenditure, this being a significant 

factor influencing the precept proposal.  Section five highlights the implications of the overall 

reduction in the level of financial resources that will be available to police Cumbria and section 

six summarises some of the wider financial risks within the budgets. 

 

3. The 2019/20 Budget 

3.1. The net budget requirement comprising expenditure by the Police and Crime Commissioner and 

the Constabulary for 2019/20 is £103.881m.  This is the total net expenditure funded externally 

by income from the Home Office Police Grant and Council Tax.  It represents a real terms increase 

of income of 5.33% compared to 2018/19.  The table and charts below set out the main areas of 

consolidated expenditure and income for the Commissioner and Constabulary.   

60



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Medium Term Budget 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

2019 - 2023 £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Police Pay - Police Officer Pay & Allowances 59,085 63,980 65,538 67,463 68,946

Police Pay - Contribution to Pension Fund A/c 22,574 22,915 24,923 26,506 21,215

Police Pay  - Ill Health & Injury Pensions 944 1,211 1,235 1,261 1,286

PCSO Pay 3,131 2,738 2,828 2,850 2,908

Staff Pay 21,264 23,089 23,578 24,178 25,029

Other Employee Costs 1,165 1,364 1,390 1,410 1,438

Premises Costs 4,047 4,312 4,271 4,373 4,478

Transport Costs 2,176 2,297 2,366 2,437 2,511

Supplies & Services 9,949 10,644 10,700 10,897 11,115

Third Party Expenditure 2,108 2,192 2,259 2,320 2,369

LGPS Past Service Costs 493 503 515 526 537

Insurances/Management of Change 657 706 718 739 755

Commissioned Services 2,246 2,245 2,245 2,245 2,245

Accounting and Financing Costs 11,553 6,109 4,831 6,255 6,415

Contributions to Reserves Revenue 113 183 96 96 96

Total Expenditure 141,505 144,488 147,493 153,556 151,343

Funded by

Home Office Pension Top Up Grant (22,574) (22,915) (24,923) (26,506) (21,215)

Additional Pensions Grant 0 (1,200) (1,200) (1,200) (1,200)

Other Grants & Contributions (6,961) (6,773) (6,788) (6,803) (6,818)

Sales, Fees, Charges & Rents (4,784) (5,211) (4,845) (4,792) (4,887)

Interest/Investment Income (75) (165) (140) (115) (115)

Revenue Reserves Drawdown (12) (1,447) (276) (123) (29)

Capital Reserves Drawdown (8,472) (2,896) 0 (1,575) (1,740)

Formula Grant (58,710) (59,943) (59,943) (59,943) (59,943)

Council Tax Income (39,917) (43,938) (46,321) (48,737) (51,188)

Total Income/Funding (141,505) (144,488) (144,436) (149,794) (147,135)

Net Savings Requirement 0 0 3,057 3,762 4,208

The Constabulary maintains a Police 
Pension Fund Account.  From this 

account pension payments to former 
police officers are made.  The payments 
are funded by employers and employee 

contributions from serving police 
officers and a top up grant received 

from the Home Officer (see separate 
line within income analysis).  

Police Officer Pay 
The figure in the table above for Police 
Officer Pay amounts to £88.106m.   This 
can be divided into 3 segments:   

 Police Pay and Allowances 
£63.980m, this includes salary and 
allowance payments made to 
police officers and employers 
contributions in respect of police 
pensions (at a contribution rate of 
31% which amounts to £8.9m in 
2019/20).   

 Police Pensions Top Up Grant 
Transfer £22.915m which 
represents the transfer of Home 
Office Police Pension Top Up 
Grant to the Police Pension Fund 
Account. 

 Ill Health/ Injury Pensions of 
£1.211m (explanation on page 4).    

 

LGPS Past Service Cost £503k 
For the Local Government Pension 

Scheme (LGPS) which is the pension 
scheme for police staff and PCSOs, the 
PCC/Constabulary are required to pay 
past service contributions with the aim 
to reduce the pension deficit  over the 

next 16 years. 

61



 

The total expenditure for 2019/20 is shown graphically in the table below: 
 

Expenditure 2019/20 £144.488m (figures in chart £m) 

 

 

  

Police Pay, £63.980, 44%

Police Pensions - Top Up 

Grant, £22.915, 16%
Police Ill Health & Injury 

Pensions, £1.211, 1%

PCSO Pay, £2.738, 2%

Staff Pay, £23.089, 16%

Other Employee Costs, 

£1.364, 1%

Premises Costs, £4.312, 

3%

Transport Costs, £2.297, 

2%

Supplies & Services, 

£10.644, 7%

Third Party Expenditure, 

£2.192, 2%

LGPS Past Service Costs, 

£0.503, 0%
Insurances/Management of 

Change, £0.706, 0%

Commissioned Services, 

£2.245, 2%

Accounting and 

Financing Costs, £6.109, 
4%

Contributions to 

Reserves, £0.183, 0%

Police Ill Health & Injury Pensions £1.211m 
These payments relate to officers that the Constabulary has been required to retire on ill 

health/injury grounds under pension regulations.  These costs fall to be met by the 
Constabulary rather than the pension fund.  The budget is made up of two main elements:  

Injury Allowance £0.731m, this represents the initial lump sum and ongoing payments made 
to officers who have been retired as a result of an injury on duty.  Ill Health pension capital 
equivalent charge £0.480m, whenever the Constabulary is required to retire an officer on ill 

health grounds, the Constabulary has to meet a capital ill health charge in respect of pensions.  
This payment amounts to approximately 2 years pay per officer (£80k).  The budget assumes 

that there will be six such retirements in 2019/20 (increased from 3 in previous years). 
 

62



 

The total funding and income for 2019/20 is shown graphically in the table below: 

 

Income/Funding 2019/20 £144.488m (figures in chart £m) 

 

 

3.2. The significant proportion of expenditure within the 2019/20 budget provides for the costs of 

policing within Cumbria. The current budget aims to provide the Chief Constable with an 

expenditure budget of £129.692m. This provides for 1,165 police officers which represents an 

increase of 20 compared to 2018/19, and 95 PCSO’s, which represents maintenance of the 

number of the established posts compared to 2018/19. Actual numbers of staff may fluctuate 

above and below the establishment depending on the pattern of recruitment, leavers and 

retirements. This funding provides for a range of policing services: 

 

 

 

 

 

The chart on the next page provides an illustration of the main areas of constabulary spend 

with a brief description of each item.   

 

Home Office Pension 

Top Up Grant, £22.915, 
16%

Additional Pensions 

Grant, £1.200, 1%

Other Grants & 

Contributions, £6.773, 
5%

Sales, Fees, Charges & 

Rents, £5.211, 4%

Interest/Investment …

Revenue Reserves 

Drawdown, £1.447, 1%

Capital Reserves 

Drawdown, £2.896, 2%
Formula Grant, £59.943, 

41%

Council Tax Income, 

£43.938, 30%

Constabulary Net Budget 2019/20 
Expenditure £129.692m. 

Earned Income (£5.211m) 
Net Budget (£124.481m)  

 

63



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

£3.368m

£4.248m

£7.643m

£8.058m

£8.058m

£8.397m

£9.826m

£21.087m

£25.208m

£33.801m

Specialist Operations

Road Policing

Other Operational Policing

Dealing with the Public

Support Services

Criminal Justice Arrangements

Information Communication Technology

Crime Intelligence & Investigations

Police Pensions

Local Policing

Constabulary Expenditure 2019/20 £129.692m

Local Policing – neighbourhood policing, incident management, community liaison, local 

command team and support overheads. 

Police Pensions – this reflects the constabulary’s contribution to the police pension fund 

account to meet the pension deficit.  A top up grant from the Home Office to offset this amount 

is received by the Commissioner. 

Crime, Intelligence, Investigations and Public Protection - crime support command team and 

support overheads, major investigations unit, economic crime, serious and organised crime 

unit, public protection, local investigation,  central intelligence, intelligence/threat assessments, 

covert policing, scenes of crime officers, external forensic costs, fingerprint/DNA bureau, 

photographic image recovery and other forensic services. 

Information Communication Technology – includes the cost of the provision and support of a 

wide range of computer and communications systems to operational policing. 

Criminal Justice Arrangements – custody/prisoner handling, criminal justice arrangements, 

Police National Computer, civil disclosure/criminal records bureau, coroner assistance, fixed 

penalty scheme/central ticket office. 

Support Services – includes costs associated with providing business support to operational 

policing including HR, finance, legal, procurement, fleet, estates, press and media. 

Dealing with the Public – local call centre/front desk, central communications unit. 

Other Operational Policing – providing support to operational policing which includes transport 

costs, force command, professional standards and training. 

Road Policing – traffic units, vehicle recovery, road safety partnership. 

Specialist Operations – central operations command team and support overheads, underwater 

search/marine support, dogs sections, level 1 advanced public order, firearms unit, civil 

contingencies. 

 

 

64



 

3.3. The balance of expenditure within the budget is managed by the Police and Crime Commissioner.  

The Commissioner’s budgets include all the specific grants received from government and in 

overall terms, is a net income budget.  It also includes expenditure on behalf of both the 

Commissioner and the Constabulary, for example the cost of the property estate, insurances and 

the capital financing that funds the capital programme to provide the ICT and fleet needed to 

deliver policing.  The chart below sets out forecast income and expenditure for 2019/20. 

  

 

3.4. Further detail on the Commissioner’s budgets and the funding provided to the Constabulary, 

including the capital programme, is set out in the separate reports on this agenda.  Appendix A 

provides the overall financial positon for the next four years, setting out a summary of 

Constabulary budgets, the Commissioner’s budgets, the use of reserves to fund this expenditure 

and the budget requirement funded by formula grant and council tax. 

 

3.5. The 2019/20 budget includes a proposed increase in council tax of £23.94, arising from the 

Commissioner’s precept proposal.  The precept proposal for 2019/20 is for an increase in precept 

of 10.29%.  This is an increase of £23.94 per annum for a band D property and takes the total 

police element of the precept at band D to £256.68.   

 
3.6. The precept proposal aims to mitigate the impact of real term reductions in government funding.  

The Home Office has increased formula grant funding to Cumbria by £1.23m and also provided 

a specific Pensions Grant of £1.17m in 2019/20. However, the additional grants have the effect 

of largely offsetting increased police officer pension costs, which have been imposed from 

2019/20. Government grant funding therefore makes no allowance for the effect of pay and price 

inflation on the cost of providing policing services.    

£0.749 m

£2.245 m

£4.310 m

£0.503 m

£0.706 m

£6.098 m

-£30.888 m

-£0.165 m

Commissioner's Office

Commissioned Services

Premises Related Costs

LGPS Past Service Costs

Insurances

Accounting Treasury and Financial

Grants & Contributions

Investment/Interest Income

Commissioner's Net Budget 2019/20 £16.441m

Commissioner’s 
Net Budget 

2019/20 
Expenditure 
£14.612m. 

Income 
(£31.053m) 
Net Budget 
(£16.441m)   

65



 

3.7. From 2017/18 the Government’s public sector pay cap of 1% was removed.  The pay award for 

officers in 2018 was 2%, however, this was lower than the 3% recommended by the Police 

Remuneration Review Body. The decision is now the subject of a judicial review.  Against this 

background the 2019/20 budget and MTFF are based on an assumption of pay increases of 3% 

from 2019.  In addition, general inflation has consistently exceeded 2% over the last year and 

may increase further in the short term, as a result of the effect of uncertainty over Brexit on the 

value of sterling.  The combined effect has been to put more upward pressure on expenditure 

budgets than has been experienced since the start of the Government’s austerity measures in 

2011/12.  Every effort is made to manage budgets including the Constabulary’s Star Chamber 

process, which zero bases non staff expenditure, and detailed assessment of vacant posts prior 

to granting approval to recruit.  However, after implementing these measures for several years 

the ability to fully offset the inflationary pressures described above without impacting on services 

is limited.  

 
3.8. The proposed increase in council tax aims to utilise the greater flexibility afforded to Police and 

Crime Commissioners to raise income locally to support for the Constabulary in its efforts to 

maintain performance and keep Cumbria safe.  Council tax increases, in combination with 

judicious use of reserves to support the budget, will help to manage budget pressures and 

therefore maintain services at a higher level than would otherwise be the case.  The council tax 

proposal will also facilitate modest investment in a further 20 police officers.  This is in addition 

to the continuation of funding for the 25 additional officers provided during 2018/19 in local 

community policing, which is a high priority for the public.  However, there will still be a need to 

identify savings towards the end of the medium term financial forecast period.   

 

 

4. The Medium Term Financial Forecast 2019/20 -2022/23 

4.1. Over the life of the medium term financial forecast the net cost of policing services (constabulary 

funding – Appendix A) is estimated to increase by £6.540m from the 2019/20 budget of 

£124.481m to £131.021m by 2022/23.  This is because of the impact of inflation on salary and 

supplies and services costs, in addition to the cost of pensions.  Police pension’s costs fluctuate 

year on year and to a large degree will be funded by a central government grant.  Whilst other 

costs are subject to increase, work during the budget process has been undertaken to challenge 

requirements and reduce cost.  Inflation on salary costs is provided for within the life of the 

medium term forecast at 3%.  Inflation on supplies and services is provided for at 2% in line with 

66



 

Bank of England forecasts.  Significantly, whilst budgets have received an inflationary uplift they 

have also been rigorously challenged through a Star Chamber of senior officers.   

 

4.2. The current grant funding outlook beyond 2019/20 carries a high degree of uncertainty, as it will 

be dependent on the outcome of the Government’s next Comprehensive Spending Review to be 

published in autumn 2019.  By this time the short-term impact of Brexit on the public finances 

will also be becoming known and ministers have also indicated they will re-visit the Police 

Funding Formula.  Against the background of these uncertainties, an assumption that formula 

grant will be maintained at its 2019/20 cash level and that the pension grant will be consolidated 

into main grant for the duration of the forecast has been made.  In relation to council tax, for 

planning purposes an increase of almost £24pa for a Band D property has also been assumed for 

2019/20, after which annual increases will return to just below £12pa for a Band D property.  

These increases will be subject to further consultation with the Chief Constable, Police and Crime 

Panel and public.  The forecast also recognises the need to provide additional support for the 

capital programme towards the end of the forecast period.  

  

4.3. In light of current demands on policing and enhanced scrutiny of the level of reserves held by 

policing bodies by central government, as part of the budget proposal, the Commissioner intends 

to make pro-active use of reserves.  This will involve support both the revenue budget and capital 

programme, balanced against the need to retain some reserves to provide financial resilience to 

meet the costs of unexpected future events.  A reserves plan is shown as Appendix B of this 

report. 

 

4.4. The table below illustrates that the use of reserves, in combination with the proposed increases 

in council tax, would enable the budget to be balanced in 2019/20.  After this point the impact 

of inflation relative to a small increase in annual funding results in a budget deficit emerging from 

2020/21.  Under the Constabulary’s change plans this will allow sufficient time to develop savings 

options to balance the budget over the longer term, linked to its Vision 2025. 

 

67



 

 

 
4.5. For illustrative purposes, the tables below shows the effect of two alternative funding scenarios. 

In the first scenario all assumptions in the existing MTFF are unchanged except that annual 

council tax increases are assumed at £12 per band D property for all years of the MTFF including 

2019/20. The effect is that the benefit of the additional 20 officers is lost and a savings gap of 

£1.4m emerges in 2019/20 rising to £5.6m by 2022/23. It is likely that a savings requirement of 

this magnitude would require a reduction in front-line personnel and service delivery to balance 

the financial position over the medium term forecast period. 

 

Scenario Models – Variation 1 If CTax increase is £11.97 pa and additional 20 officers removed: 

 

 

In the second scenario council tax increases are restricted to 2% per annum over the length of 

the forecast.  The impact on the budget is even greater with the loss of the additional 20 officers 

accompanied by a budget gap of £2.7m in 2019/20 rising to £10.7m in 2022/23.                              

 

  

Description 2018/19

£'s

2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

2021/22

£'s

2022/23

£'s

Commissioner's Budgets (9,904,791) (16,441,035) (19,714,248) (19,707,573) (14,116,155)

Constabulary Funding 116,902,124 124,481,433 129,215,101 133,752,191 131,128,111

Movement to /(from) Reserves (8,370,619) (4,159,195) (179,651) (1,602,588) (1,672,984)

Net Expenditure 98,626,714 103,881,203 109,321,202 112,442,030 115,338,972

Funding

Formula Grants/Funding (58,710,055) (59,942,966) (59,942,966) (59,942,966) (59,942,966)

Council Tax (39,916,659) (43,938,237) (46,321,258) (48,737,564) (51,187,520)

Net Deficit / Savings Requirement 

0 (0) 3,056,978 3,761,501 4,208,487

Description 2018/19

£'s

2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

2021/22

£'s

2022/23

£'s

Commissioner's Budgets (9,904,791) (16,441,035) (19,714,248) (19,707,573) (14,116,155)

Constabulary Funding 116,902,124 123,881,433 128,597,101 133,115,191 130,471,111

Movement to /(from) Reserves (8,370,619) (4,159,195) (179,651) (1,602,588) (1,672,984)

Net Expenditure 98,626,714 103,281,203 108,703,202 111,805,030 114,681,972

Funding

Formula Grants/Funding (58,710,055) (59,942,966) (59,942,966) (59,942,966) (59,942,966)

Council Tax (39,916,659) (41,898,551) (44,266,274) (46,667,168) (49,101,596)

Net Deficit / Savings Requirement 

0 1,439,686 4,493,962 5,194,897 5,637,411

68



 

Scenario Models – Variation 2 If CTax increase is below 2% pa and additional 20 officers removed: 

 

5. Resourcing Implications of addressing the deficit 

5.1. The Constabulary is working with the Commissioner to develop plans to deliver a number of 

strategic options for savings.  The savings that need to be made over the life of this medium term 

financial forecast are in addition to savings of over £25m that have been delivered since 2010.  

Proposals need to address the potential future gap in funding but also the changing nature of 

police demand.  Extensive work has been undertaken in recent years to understand the impact 

and resource implications of changing demand on police services and this will be annually 

reviewed in future. 

 

5.2. During 2017/18 the Constabulary developed its Vision 2025 Strategy, which is aligned to the 

national policing vision and aims to equip the force to deal with the emerging threats and 

challenges over the next decade.  There are five key strands of the strategy, namely local policing, 

specialist capabilities, workforce, digital policing and business support, each of which is 

supported by objectives and a detailed work-plan.  In 2018/19 work-streams within Vision 2025 

were further developed and the governance structure re-aligned to focus on delivery of the 

Vision. There is a recognition that sustainability will be critical to the ultimate success of the 

strategy.  

 
Aligned to this work a detailed Change and Benefits Plan has been developed as part of the 

budget preparation process for 2019/20.  Opportunities to deliver savings and efficiencies have 

been identified from aggregating functions to provide greater capacity, changing the workforce 

mix, making better use of management information, and, in particular, ensuring that benefits are 

realised from investment in new technology.  The Constabulary will continue to work with the 

Commissioner to further develop savings and efficiency plans as a means of balancing the budget 

in the medium term, which will be monitored through the Vision 2025 governance structure. 

Description 2018/19

£'s

2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

2021/22

£'s

2022/23

£'s

Commissioner's Budgets (9,904,791) (16,441,035) (19,714,248) (19,707,573) (14,116,155)

Constabulary Funding 116,902,124 123,881,433 128,597,101 133,115,191 130,471,111

Movement to /(from) Reserves (8,370,619) (4,159,195) (179,651) (1,602,588) (1,672,984)

Net Expenditure 98,626,714 103,281,203 108,703,202 111,805,030 114,681,972

Funding

Formula Grants/Funding (58,710,055) (59,942,966) (59,942,966) (59,942,966) (59,942,966)

Council Tax (39,916,659) (40,625,664) (41,716,858) (42,837,713) (43,988,729)

Net Deficit / Savings Requirement 

0 2,712,573 7,043,378 9,024,352 10,750,278

69



 

6.3. From 2019/20 the Government has increased the rate of police officer employer contributions 

to the pension fund from 24.2% to 31%, as it aims to address the national budget deficit.  For 

2019/20 the Home Office and Treasury have provided Cumbria with £2.4m of additional funding, 

which offsets much of the additional pension cost.  Whilst the MTFF assumes that the additional 

funding will be continued beyond 2019/20, this is not guaranteed and will considered as part of 

the wider CSR. 

 

6.4. There are a number of significant national policing initiatives, which will be implemented over 

the period covered by the MTFF including major ICT developments such as the Emergency 

Services Network (ESN) replacement for radios and a total re-vamp of police training under the 

Policing Education Qualifications Framework (PEQF).  The financial impact of these initiatives on 

individual forces are not fully known at this point.  Whilst adequate provision has been made in 

the budget and capital programme, based on the best available information, there is potential 

for the ultimate costs to be higher than those estimated, which could impact on the wider 

6.    Risks and Issues

6.1. As noted through this report the production of the medium term financial forecast takes place

against a backdrop of unprecedented economic uncertainty.  The Government’s Comprehensive

Spending Review will be of critical importance in determining the future direction of funding for

policing.  In  particular,  the  sustainability  of  a  funding  model,  which  relies  entirely  on  local

taxpayers to fund inflation, the financial effects of new legislation and service development will

need to be addressed.

6.2. The Medium Term Financial forecast is under pinned by a number of estimates, which, if they

ultimately prove to be inaccurate, may affect the financial position.  The increase in pay inflation

from 2% to 3% provided in this forecast mitigates, to a large degree, the risk that pay awards will

exceed  those  assumed.  However,  there  is  a  risk  that  non  pay  inflation  will  be  above  the  2%

allowed particularly in the short term for commodities and services priced in dollars such as fuel

and ICT contracts, which could be impacted by adverse currency fluctuations triggered by Brexit.

There are also some less material risks within the medium term forecast in respect of income.

Budget assumptions from 2019/20 include an annual surplus from district collection funds of

£200k  and  an  increase  in  the  tax  base  for  council  tax  income  of  0.75%  per  annum.    These

increases have been made in the context of reviewing historical trends in income and the risk is

considered acceptable.

70



 

budget. 

 

Members have received regular updates over the last three years on progress of the police 

formula funding review.  This represented the most significant risk to the financial forecasts with 

the potential to challenge the ability to present a balanced budget in the longer term.  The 

position regarding the funding formula review remains largely unaltered from that reported to 

members in the corresponding report last year.  There is a continuing recognition by the Home 

Office that the police funding formula is out-dated and no longer fit for purpose.  Accordingly, 

there is an intention for the Government to re-visit the funding formula once the CSR has been 

completed.  The effect of any change in the funding formula remains a risk in the medium term, 

with any changes unlikely to be implemented until 2021/22. Given the uncertainty over the 

timing and implications of any future change to the formula, it has been assumed that there will 

be no impact on the financial forecasts contained in this report. 

 

6.5. In the context of increasing demand for policing services and having already delivered £25m of 

savings since 2010, there is a risk that future savings will be difficult to deliver without adversely 

affecting front-line service delivery.  The Constabulary is committed through the Vision 2025 

programme, to critically examine its ways of working and striving for greater efficiency. The 

medium term savings requirement outlined in the financial forecast is considered challenging, 

but manageable.    

 
6.6. The proposed annual increase in council tax alongside the impact of the tax base increases, will 

provide additional income of £4.0m in 2019/20.  The council tax increases assumed over the life 

of the medium term budget have a cumulative annual impact of £11.3m.  Whilst savings are still 

likely to be required in the medium term, the precept increase will support stronger financial 

resilience and ensure Cumbria Constabulary is better placed to deal with the totality of service 

and financial challenges than would otherwise be the case.  

 

6.7. Whilst this report proposes a council tax increase of 10.29% for 2019/20, final decisions are 

subject to consultation with the public, the Police and Crime Panel and the Chief Constable and 

will be taken in the context of the confirmed budget settlements and feedback from Panel 

members following their January meeting. 

 

 

71



 

Appendix A: Medium Term Financial Forecast 2019/20 to 2022/23 

 

  

Description Base Base Base Base Base

Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

£ £ £ £ £

Constabulary Funding

Police Officer - Pay & Allowances 59,084,911 63,979,207 65,537,895 67,463,296 68,946,238

Police Officer - Contribution to Pension Fund A/c 22,574,000 22,915,000 24,923,000 26,506,000 21,215,000

Police Officer 944,199 1,211,319 1,235,546 1,260,257 1,285,463

Police Community Support Officers 3,131,356 2,738,236 2,828,384 2,850,236 2,907,744

Police Staff - Pay & Allowances 20,684,681 22,479,618 22,950,542 23,532,663 24,363,643

Other Employee Benefits 1,160,125 1,358,150 1,384,899 1,404,319 1,432,406

Transport Related Expenditure 2,171,152 2,292,794 2,361,384 2,432,482 2,506,196

Supplies & Services 9,827,801 10,529,007 10,583,016 10,778,177 10,993,741

Third Party Related Expenditure 2,108,051 2,188,724 2,255,685 2,316,279 2,365,029

Earned Income (4,784,152) (5,210,621) (4,845,249) (4,791,517) (4,887,348)

Total Constabulary Funding 116,902,124 124,481,433 129,215,101 133,752,191 131,128,111

Commissioner's Budget

Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner 722,694 749,008 769,858 791,309 813,376

Commissioned Services Budget 2,245,476 2,244,773 2,244,773 2,244,773 2,244,773

Premises Related Costs 4,045,455 4,310,486 4,269,848 4,371,550 4,476,201

LGPS Past Service Costs 492,600 503,400 514,500 525,900 537,500

Insurances & Management of Change 657,446 706,439 717,589 738,589 755,489

Accounting & Financing Costs 11,542,189 6,098,002 4,819,822 6,243,873 6,404,450

Contributions to Reserves Revenue 113,329 183,379 95,884 95,884 95,884

Grants & Contributions (28,583,878) (29,940,784) (31,963,279) (33,561,208) (28,285,585)

Grants - Victims & Restorative Justice (588,000) (575,661) (575,661) (575,661) (575,661)

Grants - Capital (363,773) (371,698) (371,698) (371,698) (371,698)

Interest/Investment Income (75,000) (165,000) (140,000) (115,000) (115,000)

Total Commissioner's Budget (9,791,462) (16,257,656) (19,618,364) (19,611,689) (14,020,271)

Use of Reserves

Revenue Reserve Drawdown (12,307) (1,446,866) (275,535) (123,472) (29,304)

Capital Reserve Drawdown (8,471,641) (2,895,708) 0 (1,575,000) (1,739,564)

Total Use of Reserves (8,483,948) (4,342,574) (275,535) (1,698,472) (1,768,868)

Budget Requirement 98,626,714 103,881,203 109,321,202 112,442,030 115,338,972

Formula Grant & Council Tax Income

General Police Grant (58,710,055) (59,942,966) (59,942,966) (59,942,966) (59,942,966)

Council Tax Precepts (39,916,659) (43,938,237) (46,321,258) (48,737,564) (51,187,520)

Total Formula Grant & Council Tax Income (98,626,714) (103,881,203) (106,264,224) (108,680,530) (111,130,486)

Net Deficit/Savings Requirement 0 (0) 3,056,978 3,761,501 4,208,487

Council Tax per Band D Property £232.74 £256.68 £268.65 £280.62 £292.59

Increase over previous year £23.94 £11.97 £11.97 £11.97

Percentage Increase 10.29% 4.66% 4.46% 4.27%

72



 

Appendix B: Reserves Plan 2019-2023            

 

 
Note 1: General Reserves are held at £3m, this is based on an assumed level of 3% of the Net Revenue Budget. 

 

Note 2:  Capital Reserves.  The General Capital Reserve and the Eden Deployment Centre Reserve are expected to be 

fully utilised during 2019/20.  The West Cumbria Estate Scheme is currently being development for approval within the 

capital programme.  Once the scheme and timing of cash flows has been established the reserves plan will be updated 

to show the timing of the draw down in reserves.  At the point of writing this report the reserve is anticipated to be fully 

drawn down by 2023/24. 

 

Note 3: Budget Stabilisation/Insurance Reserves The Budget stabilisation reserves includes operational contingencies 

recommended by the Home Office Financial Management Code and operational reserves that make provision for a 

range of expenditure that has been reduced from annual budgets to achieve savings.  For example, recurrent fuel 

budgets now exclude any provision for a severe winter.  If this circumstance arises the estates budgets can draw down 

from the contingency which will be topped back up in the following year’s budget process.  All recurrent budgets have 

had general contingencies removed.  The insurance reserve provides for uninsured costs beyond the amount of the 

Reserves Plan Actual Estimated Forecast Net Forecast Net Forecast Net Forecast Net Forecast

2019-2023 Balance Gain/(Use) Balance Gain/(Use) Balance Gain/(Use) Balance Gain/(Use) Balance Gain/(Use) Balance

31/03/18 2018/19 31/03/19 2019/20 31/03/20 2020/21 31/03/21 2021/22 31/03/22 2022/23 31/03/23

Note £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

General Reserve/Police Fund 1 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000

Total General Reserve/Police Fund 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000

Capital Reserves 2

General Capital Reserve 5,922 (3,354) 2,568 (2,568) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Eden Deployment Centre 3,628 (3,300) 328 (328) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

West Cumbria Estate 3,304 192 3,496 0 3,496 0 3,496 (1,575) 1,921 (1,740) 181

Total Capital Reserves 12,854 (6,462) 6,392 (2,896) 3,496 0 3,496 (1,575) 1,921 (1,740) 181

Budget Stabilisation/Insurance 3

PCC Operational Reserve 250 0 250 0 250 0 250 0 250 0 250

Constabulary Operational Reserves 250 0 250 0 250 0 250 0 250 0 250

Chief Constable's Contingency 500 0 500 0 500 0 500 0 500 0 500

Insurance Reserve 1,162 46 1,208 46 1,254 46 1,300 46 1,346 46 1,392

Total Budget Stabilisation/Insurance Reserves 2,162 46 2,208 46 2,254 46 2,300 46 2,346 46 2,392

Budget Support Reserves 4

Budget Support Reserve 2,469 (341) 2,128 (629) 1,499 0 1,499 0 1,499 0 1,499

Total Budget Support Reserves 2,469 (341) 2,128 (629) 1,499 0 1,499 0 1,499 0 1,499

Short Term Project Reserves 5

PFI Lifecycle Replacements 289 0 289 0 289 0 289 0 289 0 289

Finance System Upgrade 6 (6) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Body Armour (Future Roll Out) 141 50 191 50 241 50 291 50 341 50 391

Cumbria Road Safety Initiatives 291 8 299 (200) 99 (58) 41 (37) 4 71 75

Injury Pensions 50 (50) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HQ Security 50 50 100 (100) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Anti Corruption Audit Tool 34 (34) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CS Change Manager 0 28 28 (28) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Workforce 2025 45 (45) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Business Intelligence 0 113 113 (113) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Red Sigma 0 371 371 (227) 144 (144) 0 0 0 0 0

Commissioned Services 1,504 (50) 1,454 (62) 1,392 (74) 1,318 (87) 1,231 (100) 1,131

Total Short Term Project Reserves 2,410 435 2,845 (680) 2,165 (226) 1,939 (74) 1,865 21 1,886

Total Earmarked Revenue Reserves 7,041 140 7,181 (1,263) 5,918 (180) 5,738 (28) 5,710 67 5,777

Total All Reserves 6 22,895 (6,322) 16,573 (4,159) 12,414 (180) 12,234 (1,603) 10,631 (1,673) 8,958

73



 

actuarially assessed annual provision.  These costs are charged to the budget and the reserve will be drawn down to 

meet those costs when they arise. 

 

Note 4: Budget Support Reserve, this reserve has been established to provide support to the revenue budget in the 
shorter term and also to meet the costs associated with business change.   
 

Note 5: Short Term Project Reserves primarily fund the one off revenue implications of approved capital schemes, usually 

concerning ICT. The Cumbria Road Safety Initiatives reserve is a partnership reserve held by the Commissioner on behalf 

of the Road Safety Partnership.  This section also includes future liability reserves for areas within the budget where 

there is a future liability for which the amount or timing is uncertain for example the PFI lifecycle reserves match actual 

liabilities on the PFI contract reflected in the financial statements and the Body Armour reserve covers costs that do not 

arise on a recurrent annual basis e.g. the cyclical purchase of body armour.   

 

Note 6: Total Reserves are currently showing a considerable change between 2018/19 and 2022/23. This is primarily as 

a result of the capital reserve established for Estates West Flood Management starting to be drawn down, this reserve 

is planned to be fully utilised by the end March 2024.  Once this has been drawn down the balance on reserves will be 

£8.8m.  By comparison, reserves at 1 April 2014 were £32.8m.        

 

74



CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

Meeting date: 21 January 2019

From:  Director of Finance (Cumbria County Council)

DRAFT PRECEPT PROPOSALS (2019/2020)

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. The purpose of this report is to accompany the report from 
the Police and Crime Commissioner which will set out the 
proposed budget and precept for 2019/20. This report 
explains the Panel’s options for decision making.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1. The Panel is asked to review the proposed precept report 
from the Police and Crime Commissioner accompanying this 
report.

2.2. The Panel is then asked to decide whether to:

a) support the precept without qualification or comment;
b) support the precept and make recommendations, or
c) veto the proposed precept.

3. BACKGROUND

3.1. The Police and Crime Panel are consulted on the level of precept 
(Council Tax demand) requested by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner as he looks to set the budget for the Cumbria Police 
Force for 2019/20. The precept proposal from the Police and Crime 
Commissioner is set out in today’s agenda.

3.2. The Police and Crime Panel are required to review the proposed 
precept and upon consideration of the proposed precept decide 
whether to:-

75

Agenda Item 9



a) support the precept without qualification or comment;
b) support the precept and make recommendations, or
c) veto the proposed precept (by the required majority of at least 

two thirds of the persons who are members of the Panel at the 
time the decision is made).

3.3. If the Panel were to decide (b) to support the precept but make 
comments/recommendations, the Panel would need to make these 
comments clear in the meeting and then convey them in writing by 
no later than five working days after the meeting (ie by 29 
January).

3.4. The Commissioner would then consider such 
recommendations/comments and advise the Panel of his decision. 
The Panel could decide to hold a special meeting to consider this 
response – or to consider the response at the next ordinary 
meeting of the Panel.

3.5. If the Panel were to decide (c) and exercise its veto, the Panel 
would need to provide a statement to the Commissioner setting out 
its reasons, and indicating whether the precept proposed is too high 
or too low.

3.6. The Commissioner would then consider the statement and issue a 
response, including a revised precept. The Panel would need to 
meet to review the revised precept before 23 February and make a 
report to the Commissioner. A special meeting date would need to 
be agreed. Then the Panel would need to consider the precept and 
set out if they accept or reject the revised precept – but there is no 
further veto at this meeting.

3.7. The Commissioner would then have regard to this second report 
and would issue a response by no later than 2 March. However, the 
rejection by the Panel of the revised precept would not prevent the 
Commissioner from issuing the revised precept as precept for the 
financial year 2019/20.

4. CONCLUSION

4.1. The Police and Crime Panel is asked to review the proposed precept 
report from the Police and Crime Commissioner and decide whether 
to support, or veto the precept proposal.

Julie Crellin
Director of Finance (s151 Officer), Cumbria County Council

76



APPENDICES

No appendices.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

No background papers.

Contact: Paul Turney, Senior Manager – Accountancy & Financial 
Planning (Deputy s151 Officer)

Tel: 01228 221514 or e-mail paul.turney@cumbria.gov.uk 

77

mailto:paul.turney@cumbria.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

Meeting date: 21 January 2019

From:  Monitoring Officer (Cumbria County Council)

COMPLIMENTS AND COMPLAINTS

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report advises members of any complaints received in 
accordance with the Panel’s complaints procedure.  The 
report outlines where appropriate, what, if any, action has 
been taken in respect of the complaints.

1.2 This report also records any compliments received.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 Members are asked to note the report.

3.0 BACKGROUND

3.1 At the meeting on 15 October 2018 the Panel agreed to adopt a 
revised complaints procedure to consider non-criminal complaints 
in relation to the Police and Crime Commissioner or other office 
holders.

3.2 The Procedure 
3.2.1 As part of the revised procedure, the Monitoring Officer of 

Cumbria County Council will consider all complaints matters in 
the initial stages.  If the Monitoring Officer cannot broker a 
resolution, a sub-committee of the Panel should be convened to 
consider the matter further.

79

Agenda Item 10



3.2.2 The Panel will receive a report to each meeting detailing the 
position with all ongoing complaints, and requesting a sub-
committee be convened if appropriate.  The report to Panel will 
also include details of any compliments received. 

4.0 DETAILS OF COMPLAINTS RECEIVED

4.1 As detailed at paragraph 4.1 of the previous report to the Panel, 
dated 15 October 2018, at the time of the last meeting there 
were four ongoing complaints.  

4.2 In the previous report, it was recommended that a sub-
committee of the Panel be convened to consider two of the 
ongoing complaints for which resolutions had not been agreed.  

4.3 That sub-committee was convened on 28 November 2018.  The 
Panel’s Chair and Vice-Chair (Cllrs McEwan and Fearon), along 
with Independent Member, Judith Cooke, were the members of 
the Panel.  Reports were prepared and the sub-committee 
resolved to consider the matters in private.  In respect of both 
complaints, the sub-committee resolved to take no further action 
as there was no resolution of the complaint that was within the 
sub-committee’s powers.  

4.4 With respect to the third ongoing complaint at the time of the 
previous report, the Commissioner provided a response to a 
complaint that had been refined through correspondence with the 
Deputy Monitoring Officer.  Having received this response with 
further comments from the Deputy Monitoring Officer, the 
complainant decided to withdraw his complaint.  

4.5 As stated in the previous report, the final ongoing complaints 
matter was framed as a complaint but did not actually detail any 
failing on behalf of the Commissioner.  A query was raised as to 
what, if anything, the complaint against the Commissioner was 
but no response has been received.  Accordingly, the initial 
correspondence will not be treated as having been a complaint 
and no further action will be taken.

80



5.0 DETAILS OF COMPLIMENTS RECEIVED

5.1 The Monitoring Officer has not been made aware of any 
compliments that have been received during the relevant period.

Iolanda Puzio
Monitoring Officer, Cumbria County Council

11 January 2019

APPENDICES

None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

No background papers 

Contact: Ben Spencer
E-mail: ben.spencer@cumbria.gov.uk
Telephone: 07919 297914

81

mailto:ben.spencer@cumbria.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

Meeting date: 21 January 2019

From: Senior Manager – Policy and Scrutiny

PANEL UPDATE REPORT

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report updates the Police and Crime Panel on:

 Key issues and developments that have occurred since the 
last meeting on the 15th October 2018 including

o Progress on actions agreed at the October Panel 
meeting.

o National policy developments.
o The Panel’s work programme.

2.0 ISSUES FOR THE PANEL

2.1 Note the range of activity set out in the report and highlight, if 
required, issues that they would like more information on.

2.2 Note the work programme provided in Appendix 1 and provide 
suggestions for future topics or items for consideration by the 
Panel.

3.0 BACKGROUND

Progress on actions agreed at the October Panel Meeting:

3.1 At the last Panel meeting on the 15th October it was agreed that:

 A Complaints sub-committee would be convened in November 
to consider two unresolved complaints.  The sub-committee 
would be made up of the following panel members – 

Ms J Cooke
Miss H Fearon
Mr W McEwan
Mr P McSweeney (substitute)
MrG Sunderland (substitute)

83

Agenda Item 11



The sub-committee met on 28th November and resolved that the 
neither of the outstanding complaints required any further action. 
Minutes of this meeting will be available on the PCP website.

 Further information on the police handling of complaints be 
made available at the next meeting of the Panel.  The 
Independent Office for Police Conduct (IOPC) will now be 
attending the Panel meeting on the 25th of March where 
Members will have the opportunity to explore the implications 
of the changes to the police complaints appeals process. 

 Following the presentation on the annual report from the Joint 
Audit Committee and proposals for closer working with the PCP, 
Members requested further information on the remit, 
accountability and relationships between different committees 
linked to the Commissioner’s Office.  This will be provided to 
Panel before the next meeting in March.

 The new PCP website link be revisited to ensure it was 
functioning correctly.  This has been checked and resolved.  
The website can be accessed at the following link: 
http://www.cumbriapcp.org.uk/

4.0 HORIZON SCANNING

This section of the report provides members with an 
overview of some of the key issues with implications for 
policing and community safety in the near future.

RECOMMENDATION

4.1 The Panel is asked to consider the content of this section of the 
report, and highlight, if required, issues that they would like more 
information on.

4.2 Outlined below are key issues of particular importance to the Police 
and Crime Panel:

 Police Funding Settlement
 Police Mergers
 Serious and Organised Crime Strategy
 HMICFRS report on Policing and Mental Health
 National Protocol against the Criminalisation of Children 

Looked After and Care Leavers

Police Funding Settlement
4.3 On 14 December, the Home Office announced the provisional 

policing funding settlement for 2019/20. In total, the government 
has provisionally increased police funding by £970m, which includes 
£509m calculated on PCCs increasing the local policing precept by 
the maximum £24 per year for a Band D property.

84

http://www.cumbriapcp.org.uk/


4.4 A further £153m of specific grant funding has been made available 
to support increases in forces’ pensions contributions. The total cost 
to forces of the pension changes have been calculated at £420m. 

4.5 The general government grants to PCCs will increase by £161m to a 
total of £7.8bn, including a £146m increase in core grant funding.

4.6 In Cumbria, the provisional change in total resource funding will 
translate to an increase of £7.1m. This is a rise from £102.9m in 
2018/19 to £110.0m in 2019/20.

4.7 The national commentary relating to the policing settlement in 
2019/20 as well as a benchmarking assessment of PCCs’ precept 
proposals across England and Wales has been included in appendix 
2. 

Police Mergers
4.8 Since 2015, Dorset Police has been working in a strategic alliance in 

back office and operational areas, including dogs, roads and 
firearms policing. A planned merger had been abandoned after 
Devon and Cornwall PCC’s opposed this, citing council tax 
harmonisation issues.

4.9 In October, West Mercia PCC and Chief Constable announced that 
the police alliance will end by 8 October 2019, stating the intention 
to deliver a more effective and efficient service to communities and 
greater value for money.

4.10 Gloucestershire’s PCC also decided to end the triple alliance in 
October, with Somerset and Avon police and Wiltshire police, which 
began in 2012 due to cost management and efficiency reasons. 
They will continue to work in collaboration.

Serious and Organised Crime Strategy
4.11 In November 2018, the Home Office launched the Serious and 

Organised Crime (SOC) Strategy which sets out how the 
government will build the UK’s defences against SOC, and ensure 
perpetrators are brought to justice.

4.12 Measures within the strategy include additional investment in the 
multi-agency National Economic Crime Centre; piloting new 
approaches to preventing people in engaging in SOC; and improving 
engagement with the private sector, particularly the information 
technology industry.

HMICFRS report on Policing and Mental Health
4.13 Her Majesty’s Inspectorate on Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 

Services (HMICFRS) published a report in November, which stated 
that 52% of mental health patients who need help in a place of 
safety are taken there in a police car rather than an ambulance.

85



4.14 The key messages from the report include concern that the police 
are operating beyond their duty, despite strong leadership on 
mental health within forces. Whereas forces are investing in mental 
health training, the quality is often inconsistent.

4.15 The report found that generally police forces are good at recognising 
when people are in crisis although there is a need for a clearer 
picture of mental health demand, which includes forces adopting a 
universal definition of mental health.

4.16 In December, the government announced that they will introduce a 
new Mental Health Bill to transform mental health care, following 
publication of the Independent Review’s final report. The new Bill 
will include allowing those detained under the Act to nominate a 
person of their choice to be involved in decisions about their care.

National Protocol against the Criminalisation of Children Looked 
After and Care Leavers
4.17 As referenced to in the Serious Violence Strategy, the government 

released the National Protocol against the Criminalisation of 
Children Looked After (CLA) and Care Leavers. The protocol 
recognises that CLA and Care Leavers are more likely to be 
criminalised, offend or re-offend.

4.18 The protocol encourages local authorities and children’s services to 
implement the protocol with their partners, including Police Forces, 
Youth Offending Teams, the Crown Prosecution Service and the 
Magistrates.

4.19 There is a greater emphasis on agencies realising the local and 
national factors which can increase children and young people’s risk 
of being criminalised, such as children going missing and cross-area 
criminal activity such as county lines.

4.20 As children and young people on remand or custodial sentences are 
often highly vulnerable with multiple over-lapping risks and needs, 
the protocol focuses on the multi-agency oversight and support 
necessary, including from Youth Offending Teams, Children’s 
Services, health services and custodial facilities.

5.0 ATTENDANCE OF NATIONAL CONFERENCES

5.1 On 12 November, Frontline Consulting hosted the PCP National 
Conference 2018, which Hani Cox attended. Items included the 
Items included the National Association of Police (Fire) and Crime 
Panels’ AGM, an emphasis on the need for collaboration from the 
National Police Chiefs’ Council and the Association of Police and 
Crime Commissioners, as well as several breakout sessions.

86



5.2 Issues which Panels were recommended to monitor and review 
within the next year included the complaints reforms being 
introduced early next year, which may impact on the scrutiny of 
PCCs in the future, as well as clarification on the direction of travel 
for police funding arising from the Comprehensive Spending Review 
in the spring.

5.3 On 4 December, Independent Member Judith Cooke attended the 
Combating Gangs, Violence and Weapon Crime conference. The 
main messages emphasised throughout the session were the 
following:

 A reduction in the provision of youth services and staff has led 
to rising youth dissatisfaction, which in turn contributes to 
some believing that gangs offer a sense of purpose;

 The National County Lines Coordination Centre has been 
established and has had numerous successes, especially in 
relation to joined-up data sharing between forces;

 Smaller forces are not always fully prepared for serious 
violence, such as drugs and knife crimes;

 A holistic, whole-community approach is key – no single 
system approach will be effective which means the need for 
additional multi-disciplinary coordination and delivery plans is 
essential;

 The power of social media and wider communication should 
be underestimated, which are often utilised for switching 
supply routes and identifying ‘trap houses’.

6.0 FORTHCOMING MEETINGS AND DATES
6.1 The meetings are generally held at Carleton Hall, Penrith at 

10.00am unless otherwise notified.

6.2 An agenda for each of the public meetings will be published 5 
working days prior to the meeting date. Minutes and appropriate 
reports will be published following the meeting. The upcoming 
Public Accountability Conference meetings are as follows:

 20 February 2019 Budget Setting Meeting
 27 March 2019

Joint Audit Committee
6.3 The Joint Audit Committee is composed of four members that 

meet five times throughout the year in line with the 
recommendations of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA).  

 20 March 2019 
 23 May 2019 
 24 July 2019 
 19 September 2019

87



Ethics and Integrity Panel

6.4 The purpose of the panel is to provide a forum which challenges, 
encourages and supports the Police and Crime Commissioner and 
the Chief Constable in monitoring and dealing with integrity and 
ethical issues within each organisation.

6.5 The panel, which meets on a quarterly basis, therefore acts as a 
robust, independent and transparent system of oversight of the way 
complaints and misconduct allegations are made against police 
officers and staff are handled and investigated by the police. As the 
Panel is not a public committee, papers are available after meetings 
on the following webpage: https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/what-we-
do/ethics-integrity-panel/. 

Community Safety Partnership meetings
6.6 North Cumbria Community Safety Partnership

 26 February 2019, 2pm, Carleton Hall, Penrith
 21 May 2019, 2pm, Carlisle East Community Fire Station
 10 September 2019, 2pm, Carleton Hall
 3 December 2019, 2pm, Carlisle East Community Fire Station

South Cumbria Community Safety Partnership

 23 January 2019, Barrow Police Station
 9 April 2019, Kendal Police Station

West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership

Dates to be confirmed with Panel

7.0 CONCLUSION

7.1 The Police and Crime Panel are invited to consider issues that have 
been highlighted in this report, and whether they would like more 
detailed reporting from the PCC in future on any of these topics, or 
any other topics they consider pertinent. 

Tim Gale, Senior Policy and Scrutiny Project Officer, CCC
Hani Cox, Policy and Scrutiny Officer, CCC

APPENDICES 

Appendix 1: Police and Crime Panel Work Programme
Appendix 2: Assessment of PCCs’ precept proposals (To follow)

88

https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/what-we-do/ethics-integrity-panel/
https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/what-we-do/ethics-integrity-panel/


BACKGROUND PAPERS 

None 

Contact: Tim Gale, telephone: 07810 530146 or e-mail 
tim.gale@cumbria.gov.uk

89

mailto:tim.gale@cumbria.gov.uk


90



Issue Commentary Timeline/Date

Police and Crime Plan 2017/18 end of
year Update

To consider a report from the OPCC March 2019

Revenue Budget Monitoring – Quarter 4
(a) Constabulary
(b) Commissioner

To consider budget update reports
from the OPCC.

March 2019

Police and Crime Plan
 Objective 7: Spend Your Money 

Wisely
 Objective 8: Supporting Young 

People

To consider a report from the OPCC March 2019

IOPC to attend Panel IOPC to update Panel on changes to 
complaints procedures and the work 
of the Commission 

March 2019

Police and Crime Plan
 Objective 6: Focus our Police on

Online & Sexual Crime
 Objective 4: Ensure Offenders Face
 a Consequence for their Crime

To consider a report from the OPCC July 2019

Commissioners Annual Report To consider a report from the OPCC July 2019

Forthcoming 
PCP Items at 
Panel 
Meetings

Police and Crime Plan
 Objective 5: Always put Victims 

First
 Objective 3: Tackle Crime and 

Antisocial Behaviour

To consider a report from the OPCC October 2019

APPENDIX 1 – POLICE AND CRIME PANEL WORK PROGRAMME

91



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Cumbria Police and Crime Panel Complaints Sub-Committee
	7a Constabulary Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19
	7b Commissioner Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19
	8a Cumbria Constabulary: 2018 HMICFRS Value for Money Profiles Analysis
	8b Revenue Budget and Medium Term Financial Forecast
	8c Draft Capital Programme 2019/20 and Beyond
	8e Precept Proposal and Medium Term Budget 2019/20 to 2022/23
	9 Draft Precept Proposals (Cumbria County Council)
	10 Compliments and Complaints
	11 Panel Update Report

